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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEBE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the
“Period").

BUSINESS REVIEW

As a well-established provider of integrated plastic solutions in
the PRC, the Group operates business through two segments. The
integrated plastic solutions segment is engaged in mould design
and fabrication services as well as plastic component design and
manufacturing services. The electronic cigarette (the “e-cigarette”)
products segment is engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products under the brand name of “blu”. The Group
distributes its products within the domestic market and to overseas
markets, including Europe, Asia and the United States.

During the Period, the Group's total revenue amounted to
approximately HK$959.9 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 67.6% (2017: HK$572.9 million).
The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$237.8
million (2017: HK$134.0 million) with a gross profit margin of
approximately 24.8% (2017: 23.4%).

The Group recorded a profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$75.8 million (2017: HK$20.1
million). Basic earnings per share were approximately HK12.80
cents (2017: HK4.32 cents).

During the Period, the Group recorded capital expenditure of
approximately HK$138.2 million mainly for the new machines
acquired and installed in the new site in Huizhou. It is expected
that the expanded manufacturing capacity will enable the Group to
meet market demand and to support the Group's business growth.

The shares of the Company were listed (the “Listing”) on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 8 March 2018 (the “Listing Date”) by way of a
global offering, raising gross proceeds of approximately HK$110.0
million.
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FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

In view of the expected increase in market demand for integrated
plastics solutions in the PRC and e-cigarette products globally
in the future, the Group plans to capture such market growth
through capacity expansion and equipment upgrade. The expanded
manufacturing capacity in phase Il of the Group’s new site in
Huizhou commenced operation in the third quarter of 2018.

To prepare for the continuous growth from orders of new products
from existing customers, the Group plans to further expand its
production capacity by addition of highly automated machineries
and construction of new factory premises in the remaining land
area in Huizhou. The new factory premises will have a total floor
area of approximately 78,000 sgm. The Group expects that
construction of the new premises will commence in the second half
of 2019.

The Group plans to continue to invest in high-grade and advanced
equipment to support the growth of its operations. As labour
costs increase in the PRC, the Group intends to increase its capital
investments and efforts in further automating its production
processes by purchasing equipment to replace certain manual
processes. The Group believes that automation will enhance
the quality of its products and the efficiency of its production
processes. The Group also plans to purchase advanced mould
fabrication and plastic injection equipment to enhance its overall
technical capabilities and improve its production efficiency.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEBE

Moving ahead, the Group plans to further improve its research
and development capabilities by continuing to focus on research
and development efforts to develop process-related know-how
to improve product quality and its production efficiency and save
production cost. In addition, the Group intends to further research
on methods to enhance automation of its production processes
to reduce labour cost and increase precision level of its products.
The Group also intends to further research on and develop plastic
injection mould fabrication as well as plastic injection moulding
methodology to accommodate innovative product designs in its
various downstream industries. The Group intends to expand its
research and development efforts and capabilities by hiring more
research and development personnel and purchasing equipment
and materials necessary for its research and development efforts.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere
gratitude towards the continual support from the shareholders
and the valuable contributions of the staff. The management team
will continue to fulfill its duties to create more values for the
shareholders.

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS

Integrated Plastic Solutions
The income of the integrated plastic solutions business division
was mainly derived from (i) the design and fabrication of plastic
injection moulds; and (ii) design and manufacturing of plastic
components employing the plastic injection moulds fabricated
internally or by our subcontractors.

The Group is able to specifically engineer and fabricate, with
cavities plastic injection moulds, to shape the plastic components
in accordance with the desired and customised design, features
and specifications. The Group has the technical capabilities to
fabricate moulds that meet the MT1 precision level as defined
by the “National Standard of the People's Republic of China GB/
T14486-2008-Dimensional Tolerances for Moulded Plastic
Parts”, (PFEARKMBEBERIZTEGE/T14486-2008- L} 1R 28
ERSTRZ)), which is the highest precision level in the national
guidelines. By utilising the plastic injection process and applying
the plastic injection moulds fabricated by the Group or, in limited
cases, external subcontractors, the Group manufactures plastic
components for office furniture, office electronic products, home
appliances, communication products and automobiles.

Manufacturing of E-cigarettes Products

The Group manufactured e-cigarettes products as an original
equipment manufacturer ("OEM"). Such e-cigarettes products
included disposable e-cigarettes, refillable e-cigarettes, battery
rods, clearomisers and liquidpods.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 was approximately
HK$959.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$387.0 million, or approximately 67.6%, from approximately
HK$572.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The integrated plastic solutions segment revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2018 was approximately HK$474.3 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$152.4 million, or
approximately 47.3%, from segment revenue of HK$321.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. This increase was primarily
due to increase in sales to the Group’s major customers during the
year and also the orders for new model plastic products.

The e-cigarettes products segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2018 was approximately HK$485.7 million, representing
an increase of approximately HK$234.7 million, or approximately
93.5%, from approximately HK$251.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2017. The increase was primarily contributed by the
orders for new model e-cigarettes devices.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$237.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$103.8 million, or approximately 77.4%, from
approximately HK$134.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. The increase was primarily due to the increase in the revenue
generated from the new products from both e-cigarettes and
integrated plastic solutions segment during the year.

Segment gross profit for integrated plastic solutions for 2018 was
approximately HK$110.0 million which increased from approximately
HK$57.6 million for 2017, representing an increase of approximately
HK$52.4 million, or approximately 91.0%. The gross profit for 2018 was
increased as compared to 2017 primarily because of the completion
of integrated plastic solution projects and new fabricated moulds.
The new products, as developed from the integrated plastic solution
projects and the new fabricated moulds thereof, improved the sales
and the gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2018.

8 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2018

Bt %5 2] 8

Wz

HZE2018F 12 A3NH IEFENRZIFLD
795998 BT MEE2017F12A
B IEFEENAS729B & BTG
387.0 BB ALK H67.6% ©

HZ2018F 12 A31AIEFE © —8{b)E
BERARATRNDH WA R474388
BT REIE2017F 12 AIBEFERN
DEME 4)321.9 B BB LI N%I152.4
BBBTHN473% EREENEER
HRFARAERETERFPHHEE R
RIBBRIMART B IE AN o

HE2018F12A3HIEFE » ETEE
ME D UL A48 TEBB T &
HE2017F12 A3 B IEFEEH%251.0
BEBTIEINMN234.7TEEBTHL
935% c BEEEEMETERKBFIULET
ERENEIERNER -

EX

HE2018F 12 A3MBIEFEMNEFLY
B237.8BEEBIL  BEZE2017F12A
3B IEFENAI34.0HE BTN
103.8 BEB L 477.4% - B INE
DEHARNFRETER —B(LTBER
RO E R EmTE £/ EIE N -

2018 M) — B8 L) F B RRRA F RN D EE
A AB10.0BE BT - L2017 FHIH
57.6B&EBILBMEN - BINK52.48
BB ITTEK91.0% ° 2018 FEFE:2017
FENETERENR —BFBMRAFTR
HE RFTEERANTER - —88L/T2%8
R RIEE FTABRMNMERRENE
ERBIRSEHE2018F 12 AR IEFE
MHEREREFE o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross Profit (Continued)

Segment gross profit for e-cigarettes for 2018 was approximately
HK$127.8 million which increased from approximately HK$76.4
million for 2017. The gross profit for 2018 increased as compared
by 2017 primarily because of the substantial sales of the new model
e-cigarettes. Nevertheless, the new model e-cigarettes launched
during the year resulted in a drop of gross profit margin from
30.5% for 2017 to 26.3% for 2018.

Other Income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$5.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$0.5 million, or approximately 11.1%, from
approximately HK$4.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. The increase was primarily due to an increase of
approximately HK$0.8 million in exchange gain.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December 2018
were approximately HK$12.5 million, which was similar to that for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2017: HK$11.6 million).

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended
31 December 2018 were approximately HK$107.8 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$40.9 million, or
approximately 61.1%, from approximately HK$66.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase was primarily
contributed by the increase in headcount to support the expanded
operation of the Group, increase in pay scale to retain and recruit
high profile personnel, the performance bonus to the directors and
senior management and the increase in research and development

expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Listing Expenses

Listing expenses for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
approximately HK$6.4 million, compared to HK$15.8 million
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
approximately HK$12.0 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$1.5 million, or approximately 11.1%, from
approximately HK$13.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. The decrease in finance cost was primary due to the

repayment of loans from the Ultimate Controlling Party.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
approximately HK$28.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$17.6 million, or approximately 160.6%, from
approximately HK$10.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to the

increase in profit before tax.

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
As a result of foregoing, profit for the year ended 31 December
2018 was approximately HK$75.8 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$55.7 million, or approximately 277.3%, from
approximately HK$20.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. If the listing expenses were disregarded, the adjusted profit
for the year ended 31 December 2018 would be approximately
HK$82.2 million (2017: HK$35.9 million), representing an increase
of approximately 128.7% compared with that for the year ended 31
December 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flow and banking facilities provided by its principal
bankers. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$61.4 million (2017: HK$18.6
million). The interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2018
was HK$148.6 million (2017: HK$192.5 million) with interest
rates weighted average effective interest rate of approximately
4.4% (2017: 4.5%) per annum. The Group's gearing ratio as at 31
December 2018, calculated based on the total borrowings to the
equity attributable to owners of the Company, was 52.7% (2017:
85.3%). The Group recorded net current liabilities of approximately
HK$13.9 million as of 31 December 2018 (2017: approximately
HK$133.3 million). The Directors expect the Group's net current
liabilities position and net debt to equity ratio could further
improve from 2019 by the momentum of business growth. The
management believes that the Group has maintained adequate
financial resources to fulfill its working capital requirements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried out and conducted in Hong Kong dollars,
the United States of America (the “U.S."”) dollars and Renminbi. In
view of the stability of the exchange rate between these currencies,
the Directors do not consider that the Group was significantly
exposed to foreign exchange risk for the year ended 31 December
2018. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and
to mitigate the impact on exchange rate fluctuations by entering
into currency hedge arrangement, if necessary. During the 31
December 2018, no forward foreign exchange or hedging contracts
had been entered into by the Group. The Group will continue to
evaluate the Group's foreign currency exposure and take actions as
appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has made no
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S
LISTING

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 8 March 2018.
Net proceeds from the initial public offering totalled approximately
HK$77.6 million. The table below sets out the use of net proceeds
from the initial public offering and the unutilised amounts as at 31
December 2018.
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phase Il of Huizhou factory HEMEEE 3.9 3.0 3.0 -
Equipment upgrade and capacity RIEF B ERE
expansion and related BRRAERE
investments:
- 49 sets of plastic injection —49EFBHER
machines and their automated EEE(LINERE
ancillary equipment 73.6 57.1 57.1 -
- Advanced equipment for the —-ANEHEEHE
automated mould fabrication EARER B EES
equipment production line H) R 6.0 4.7 4.7 -
- Advanced equipment for an —-ANEHEEHL
automated PET manufacturing line PETEEGZR L ERE 10.3 8.0 1.8 6.2
General working capital —REBEBER 6.2 4.8 4.8 -
100.0 77.6 7.4 6.2
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

There were no significant events subsequent to 31 December 2018.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group's remuneration policy is to compensate its employees
based on their performance, qualifications and the Group's
operational results. The total remuneration of employees includes
basic salaries and performance bonus. Directors and senior
management of the Group receive compensation in the form of
fees, salaries, allowances, discretionary bonus, defined contribution
plans and other benefits in kind with reference to those paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and the performance
of the Group. The Group also reimburses its Directors and senior
management for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably
incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing
their functions in relation to the operations of the Group. The
Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation packages (including incentive plans) of its
Directors and senior management, by reference to, among other
things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid
by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of its
Directors and senior management and the performance of the
Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did not hold
any significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group has no plan to conduct material investments and
capital assets other than the construction of new factory premises
and addition of highly-automated machineries as mentioned in
the section “Future Plan and Prospects”. The planned capital
expenditure will primarily be funded by the Group's internal
resources and bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and any of its subsidiaries has not purchased,
redeemed or sold any of its listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2018.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK3.0
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2018 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on 26 June 2019.
The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The final
dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on 10 July 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Tsan Lam, aged 58, is the founder of the Group. Mr.
Chan is an executive Director, Chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company. He is primarily responsible for formulating
corporate strategies, overseeing the overall management of
business and operation of the Group. Mr. Chan is also a director of
all of the Company's subsidiaries.

Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in marketing, strategic
planning and business management in the manufacturing industry.
From 1991 until Mr. Chan founded Sun Leader Mould Industrial
Limited (“Sun Leader HK") in September 2000, Mr. Chan worked
as a sole proprietor specializing in mould design and manufacturing.

Mr. Chan is the father of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an executive Director
of the Company. He is one of the controlling shareholders of the
Company.

Mr. CHENG Chak, aged 67, is an executive Director and the mould
fabrication technical consultant. Mr. Cheng has joined our Group
since September 2000. Mr. Cheng is primarily responsible for
providing technical advice and supervision on the manufacturing of
products of the Group.

Mr. Cheng has over 43 years of experience in the mould fabrication
industry. From 1974 to 1978, Mr. Cheng worked as an apprentice in
a radio mould factory in Hong Kong. From June 1978 to April 1984,
Mr. Cheng worked as a technician in a mould factory in Hong Kong.
From April 1984 to September 2000, he worked as a partner in two
factories in Hong Kong, both specializing in mould production. Mr.
Cheng is also the founder of Sun Leader HK. Mr. Cheng is familiar
with the design, production and fabrication of plastic moulds.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGNEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. CHAN Yin Yan, aged 29, is an executive Director and the
vice president of marketing. Ms. Chan is primarily responsible for
overseeing the overall management of business and operation of
the Group and responsible for the marketing of the Group. Ms.
Chan joined the Group in June 2013 and has been responsible
for managing part of the business and developing the Group's
customer base and is the key personnel in developing the Group's
e-cigarette business.

Ms. Chan obtained a bachelor's degree in commerce from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia in August 2011.

Ms. Chan is the daughter of Mr. Chan, an executive Director,
Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LO Ka Ki, aged 40, is an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Lo is a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong with
over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting and corporate
management. From December 2005 to November 2014, Mr. Lo
worked at the audit department of an international accounting firm
and an accountant in a Hong Kong Company. In November 2014,
Mr. Lo joined World Link CPA Limited and is currently in a position
of practising director. Mr. Lo has joined our Group since February
2018.

Mr. Lo obtained his master's degree in professional accounting
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is currently a
certified public accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. HUNG Chun Leung, aged 52, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hung joined Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors
as a consultant solicitor in July 1997 and has become a partner
of Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors since February 2016.
Mr. Hung has approximately 20 years of experience in handling
legal matters in the areas of conveyancing, mortgage finance
transactions, commercial contracts, acquisition of shares,
matrimonial cases, civil litigation and estate agents disciplinary
inquiry hearings. Mr. Hung has joined our Group since February
2018.

Mr. Hung obtained his bachelor of laws degree with honours and
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Hung was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong
Kong in October 1993 and has been a member of the Law Society

of Hong Kong since then.

Mr. CHAN Bing Kai, aged 72, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan has over 40 years of experience in the industry
of manufacturing electronic products. Mr. Chan is the co-founder
of a company that designs and manufactures a comprehensive
line of audio and LED products, including CD, DVD, iPod docking
or accessories and other high-fidelity multimedia for LED OEM

customers. Mr. Chan has joined our Group since February 2018.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LIAO Chi Cheng, aged 67, has been the general manager of
the Group since October 2016. Mr. Liao is primarily responsible for
managing the general operations of the Group and supervising the
overall business performance of the Group.

Mr. Liao has over 26 years of experience in business marketing and
corporate management in consumer electronics related industry.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liao worked as the executive vice

president of Eastech Electronics (Taiwan) Inc. for 24 years.

Mr. Liao obtained a bachelor's degree in English language from

Chinese Culture University in Taiwan.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGNEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Ms. POON Po Han Lisa is the Company’s company secretary and
its chief financial officer. Please refer to the sub-section below
headed "Company Secretary” of this annual report for Ms. Poon's
biography.

Mr. CHAN Man Ho Johnny, aged 53, joined the Group in
March 2017, now is the vice general manager of the e-cigarette
department and he is primarily responsible for overseeing the
overall management and operation of the e-cigarette department
and the general compliance regarding the e-cigarette business.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan worked in senior management
positions in multinational corporations in electronics industry for
16 years. Mr. Chan graduated with a bachelor’'s degree in materials
science and engineering from the University of Leeds. He later
obtained a postgraduate diploma in quality management from
the University of Paisley. In February 2015, Mr. Chan received a
graduate certificate in business research from the University of
Newcastle in Australia.

In September 2003, Mr. Chan completed the Six Sigma Black Belt
programme conducted by PSB corporation. In September 2016,
Mr. Chan has been accredited by The Institute of Crisis and Risk
Management as a certified risk planner. Mr. Chan is a member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Engineers.

Mr. WU Chen-Tong, aged 62, joined the Group in December
2015, is the technical consultant to the Group's research and
development department and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing the development and manufacturing of new products
and quality control.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu worked as senior management
in Taiwan and Hong Kong companies where he gained vast

experiences in product design and development.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor’s degree in electronic engineering from
National Taiwan Ocean University.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. YUEH Yung Chan, aged 46, is the vice general manager of the
Group's engineering department and he is primarily responsible
for overseeing the operation of the Group's production plant. Prior
to joining the Group in February 2015, Mr. Yueh has more over 15
years of experience in project engineering.

Mr. Yueh obtained his bachelor of engineering degree in
manufacturing engineering, Postgraduate Diploma in Mechanical
Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and master
of science degree in mechanical engineering from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. POON Po Han Lisa GEE ), aged 56, is the Company’s
company secretary and its chief financial officer. Ms. Poon is
primarily responsible for financial planning and management and
overseeing the accounting department of the Group.

Ms. Poon joined the Group in May 2008 and worked as its finance
director and is responsible for its accounting, tax and financial
matters. Ms. Poon has over 20 years of experience in financial
management, accounting and taxation working in professional and
commercial accounting sectors.

Ms. Poon obtained a degree of bachelor of science with honours in
accounting from The University of Hull in the United Kingdom in
July 2008, and a degree of master of corporate governance from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong in October
2013.

Ms. Poon is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, associate of The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and associate of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MEASURES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Board has
adopted the principles and the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”) to ensure that the Company's business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner.

During the Period, the Company has applied the principles and code
provisions of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules (as in effect from time to time) as the basis of the Company's
corporate governance practices. The Company has complied with
all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save and except
for the code provision A.2.1. Details of the deviation from the code
provision A.2.1 are explained in the section “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” of this corporate governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code") as its code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors and the Company's senior management who, because of
his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside information
in relation to the Company's securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the Period. In addition, the
Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code
by the senior management of the Company during the Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

Board Composition
The Board currently comprises of 6 members, consisting of 3
executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Cheng Chak

Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Lo Ka Ki

Mr. Hung Chun Leung

Mr. Chan Bing Kai

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
under “Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual
report. Save as Ms. Chan Yin Yan is the daughter of Mr. Chan Tsan
Lam, none of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

THE BOARD (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (“Mr. Chan") is the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company. Although this deviates
from the practice under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
where it provides that the two positions should be held by two
different individuals, as Mr. Chan has considerable experience in
the enterprise operation and management of the Company, the
Board believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole to continue to have Mr. Chan as chairman
of the Board so that it can benefit from his experience and capability
in leading the Board in the long-term development of the Company.
From a corporate governance point of view, the decisions of the
Board are made collectively by way of voting and therefore the
chairman should not be able to monopolize the decision-making of
the Board. The Board considers that the balance of power between
the Board and management can still be maintained under the current
structure. The Board shall review the structure from time to time to
ensure appropriate action be taken should the need arise.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Company has complied with the CG Code.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Throughout the Period, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of the Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules of having
three independent non-executive directors (representing at least one
third of the Board) with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The independent non-executive directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experience and independent
judgement to the Board and they are invited to serve on the board
committees of the Company. Through active participation at board
meeting, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interests, all independent non-executive directors have made
various contributions to the effective direction of the Company and
provided adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

The Company has received written confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent in light
of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-
executive directors

All directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term,
subject to renewal upon expiry of the existing term. Each executive
director is engaged on a service agreement for a term of three
years. The appointment may be terminated by either party by not
less than three months' written notice. Each of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company is appointed for a term of
three years, which appointment may be terminated by either party
by not less than one month's written notice.

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of Association
(the "“Articles”). The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing board composition, monitoring the appointment of
directors and assessing the independent non-executive directors.

According to the Articles, one-third of the directors for the time
being (if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
at each annual general meeting provided that every director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. In addition, any new director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only
until the first general meeting after appointment, and any new
director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company. The retiring directors are eligible for re-election by the
shareholders at the respective general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

THE BOARD (Continued)

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-
executive directors (Continued)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(the "AGM"), Mr. Cheng Chak and Mr. Lo Ka Ki will retire at the
AGM pursuant to the Articles provisions stated in the foregoing
paragraph. Both retiring directors indicate that they will not offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM. Mr. Cheng Chak will retire
from directorship and remain in the Group as a consultant for
the integrated plastic solutions segment. Mr. Lo Ka Ki wishes to
focus on other business and personal affairs. Mr. Cheng and Mr.
Lo have confirmed that they have no disagreement with the Board
and there is no matter that needs to be brought to the attention
of the shareholders of the Company in connection with their not
standing for re-election. The Board and the Nomination Committee
recommended the appointment of Ms. Poon Po Han, Lisa as an
executive director and Mr. Ng Chi Wai as an independent non-
executive director of the Company. The Company's circular, sent
together with this annual report, contains detailed information of
the above recommended persons as required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of the
Group, assessing, monitoring and controlling the operation and
financial performance, ensuring that the Directors perform their
proper duties and act in the best interests of the Group and hold
discussions on various important and proper businesses of the
Company in a timely manner. All Directors are entitled to raise
and include any matters that should be submitted to the Board for
discussion in the agenda of the board meeting. The management
shall provide members of the Board and specialized committees
under the Board with appropriate and sufficient information in a
timely manner so as to update them with the latest developments
of the Group and to better facilitate the discharge of their duties.
The management team is accountable to the Board, executing
the strategies and plans formulated by the Board, and making
decisions in relation to the day-to-day operation of the Group. The
management reports monthly to the Board on the operation and
financial performance of the Group.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Duties performed by the Board and management
(Continued)
The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s

corporate governance policies which include:

(a) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable
to the directors and employees; and

(e) to review the compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in
the corporate governance report.

Training, Induction and Continuing Development of
Directors

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given relevant
guideline materials and attended a training regarding the duties
and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interest in the Group. Such induction materials and briefings will
also be provided to newly appointed Directors shortly upon their
appointment as Directors. Continuing briefings and professional
development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.
The Company will continue to arrange and fund the training in
accordance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board Meeting
During the Period, three board meetings were held and the
attendance records of individual Directors are set out below:

EEgw

g

WAHR  BRAZRESEES &
EE=HECEERFHINIOT ¢

Annual General

Attendance/Number Meeting held
of Board Meetings on 28 May 2018
R2018F5H28H
HE EEEERNE STHRRBEAS
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRIZEMICE (F/E) 3/3 1/1
Mr. Cheng Chak B 3/3 1/1
Ms. Chan Yin Yan PRAEAR 2L 3/3 1/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV IFHITEE
Mr. Lo Ka Ki BEREEE 3/3 1/1
Mr. Hung Chun Leung e R EE 3/3 1/1
Mr. Chan Bing Kai BoR S PR o A 3/3 01
Board committees EEXEEeZE®
Nomination committee BEEEES

The Company established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms
of reference in compliance with code provision A5 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, (a) to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company's corporate strategy; (b) to determine
the policy for the nomination of directors, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board and may
select individuals nominated for directorship; (c) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive directors; and (d)
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking into the
Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Mr.
Hung Chun Leung and Mr. Lo Ka Ki. Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Period, the Nomination Committee met once to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
other related matters of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy

A “Nomination Policy” for Directors was formally adopted and this
incorporated the nomination criteria and principles for Directors
that are set out in the Nomination Committee's terms of reference.
The Nomination Policy applies to the directors of the Company and
where applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions
under the succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process
in the nomination and appointment of directors of the Company;
(ii) ensure that the Board of the Company has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company; and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

*  Character and integrity;

* Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy;

* Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

* Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

* Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to

the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

*  Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company; and

*  Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

Nomination process

Appointment of new directors

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and external recruitment
agents.

(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

(iii) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iv) The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination process (Continued)

Appointment of new directors (Continued)

(v) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of directors at general meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues
to meet the criteria as set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Details of attendance of members at meeting of the Nomination
Committee held during the Period are set out as follows:

TEERKRE
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EEHOFENT :

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

HESERE

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) PRI E (F)E) 1/1

Mr. Hung Chun Leung HER A 1/1

Mr. Lo Ka Ki EXRBEA 11
Audit committee BEREEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and code provision
C3 of the CG Code.

The duties of the audit committee include, without limitation,
(a) to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal; (b) to review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of
the audit process in accordance with applicable standards; and (c)
to discuss the risk management and internal control system with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty to
have effective systems.
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Board committees (Continued)

Audit committee (Continued)

The audit committee consists of Mr. Lo Ka Ki, Mr. Hung Chun
Leung and Mr. Chan Bing Kai. Mr. Lo Ka Ki is the chairman of the
audit committee.

During the Period, the audit committee met twice to review the
annual financial statements of the Company and the effectiveness
of the Company's financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems.

Details of attendance of members at meetings of the audit
committee held during the Period are set out as follows:

BEgw
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EREEG®)
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Attendance/

Number of Meetings

HE, EERE

Mr. Lo Ka Ki (Chairman) EXRELE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HER A 2/2
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PR SR P St A 2/2

Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and paragraph
B1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The duties of the remuneration committee, under the principle that
no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration,
include, without limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the
Board on the Company's policy and structure for all directors and
senior management remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy; (b) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; and (c) to review and approve the management's
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate
goals and objectives.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Chan Bing Kai, Mr. Lo
Ka Ki and Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. Mr. Chan Bing Kai is the chairman of

the remuneration committee.

During the Period, the remuneration committee met twice to review
the remuneration policy for all directors and senior management.
Details of attendance of members at meeting of the remuneration
committee held during the Period are set out as follows:
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Attendance/

Number of Meetings

HE S EERE

Mr. Chan Bing Kai (Chairman) PREEPE LA (F/) 2/2
Mr. Lo Ka Ki ERBEE 2/2
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam PR IR MRS A 2/2

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa,
who fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing
Rules. Biographical details of Ms. Poon are set out under “Directors

and Senior Management"” section in this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out in the Independent
Auditor's Report on pages 49 to 57 of this annual report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION
(Continued)

The fees paid/payable to Mazars CPA Limited, the Company’s
auditors, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2018 are analysed below:

Types of services provided by the
external auditors

SR BETRENREER

SNERBERME =

HZE2018F12A3BILEE - 2 JE
AR BB ERIR (BB) &6
EHAARRDFNZE N IFZBRSE
BAomT

Fees paid/payable

e EAEA
HK$'000
FHET

Audit services fee for the year ended HZE2018F 12 A31R EFEN
31 December 2018 ZHARBEER 1,180
Audit-related - Review of interim financial information — #Z % — 18 — =P HT K E R 250
Total #etr 1,430

* The auditor’s remuneration disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements included HK$129,000, which was paid/payable to the statutory
auditors of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company (not Mazars CPA Limited).

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of the results and cash flows of the Group for that year
and in compliance with relevant law and disclosure provisions of
the Listing Rules. In preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018, the directors have selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable, and have prepared
disclosure of the financial position of the Group with reasonable

accuracy at any time.
The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the

Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group's assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and
monitor the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and
risk management systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that
the internal control and risk management systems in place are
adequate. The purpose is to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatements, errors, losses or fraud,
and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in achieving the
Group's business objectives.

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the
size of the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board, through
its Audit Committee carries out reviews on the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems. The Audit
Committee had reported during the Audit Committee meetings
the key findings identified by the Company’s external auditor in
respect of the Group's internal controls and risk management and
discussed findings and actions or measures taken in addressing
those findings. The Company considers the internal control
and risk management system is effective during the year under
review. No material issues on the Group's internal control and risk
management system have been identified during the year ended 31
December 2018 which required significant rectification works.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever
it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SREARE

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals
at shareholders' meeting

If a shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a shareholders’
meeting, the shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding
requirements set out in the above paragraph headed “Procedures
for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”,
may follow the same procedures by sending a written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong. The shareholder should
state his/her proposals in the written requisition and submit the
written requisition as early as practicable to enable the company
secretary to make necessary arrangement.

Procedures for Directing Shareholder's Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for
putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact
details are as follows:

Address: Workshop Unit 6, 13th Floor, Block B, Hoi Luen
Industrial Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong,
Hong Kong

Email: info@hktcgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors' understanding of the Groups' business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or
in their absence, other members of the respective committees,
and, where applicable, the chairman of the independent board
committee are available to answer questions at shareholders’
meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website at www.hktcgroup.com where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’'s business operations and development,
financial information and other information are available to public

access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to a special resolution of the shareholders passed on
8 February 2018, the amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association of the Company were adopted with effect
from the Listing Date. During the Period, there was no change in
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company.

The amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Company is investment holding.
Principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
on the Group's future business development and an analysis
of the Group's performance during the year using key financial
performance indicators are provided in the “Chairman Statement”
on pages 4 to 6 and the "Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 7 to 14 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group was not aware
of material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND EMPLOYEES

We recognise that employees, customers and suppliers are keys
to our sustainable development. We are committed to establishing
a close and caring relationship with our employees, providing
high quality products and services to our customers and maintain
cooperation with our suppliers.

We provide a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our
employees, provides competitive remuneration packages and
career development opportunities based on their performance
and experience. The Group also provides regular training and
development resources to the employees so that they can
keep abreast of the latest development of the market and the
industry and, at the same time, improve their performance and
self-fulfillment in their positions.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group include
market and financial risks.

Market Risks

The fluctuation of prices of raw materials exposes us to risks.
While we monitor the price of raw materials and adjust our price
quotations accordingly, we may not be able to directly pass on any
increase in the price of raw materials to our customers in time or
at all, which may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Financial Risks
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection
and has adopted stringent measures for environmental protection
in order to ensure our compliance to the prevailing environmental
protection laws and regulations.

During the year, the Group does not have any violation of relevant
environmental regulations and rules which gives rise of significant
impact to the Group’s development, performance and businesses.

The environmental, social and governance report will be published
in a separate report to be uploaded on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 155.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK3.0
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2018 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on 26 June 2019.
The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The final
dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on 10 July 2019.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on 28 May 2019, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 23 May 2019 to 28 May 2019, both
dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of the Company should ensure that all share
transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
are lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 22 May 2019.

The Register of the Members of the Company will be closed from
24 June 2019 to 26 June 2019 (both days inclusive) for the purpose
of determining the identity of members who are entitled to the
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company's
Hong Kong branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road
East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 21 June
2019.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the past
five financial years are set out on page 156. The summary does not
form part of the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in the Group's property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2018 are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the Company’'s share capital during
the year are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 28 December 2018, the Board approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements, future business growth and its shareholding
value.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
Period.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Mr. Cheng Chak

Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Lo Ka Ki

Mr. Hung Chun Leung

Mr. Chan Bing Kai

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Company's Articles, Mr. Cheng
Chak and Mr. Lo Ka Ki will retire at the AGM and will not offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out
in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a services agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by either party giving not
less than three month’s notice in writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive directors for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, unless terminated by either
party giving to the other not less than one month’s notice in
writing.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” in this report and Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements, no director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURE

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of
the Company to acquire by means of acquisition of shares, or debt
securities, including debentures, of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this report, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinances (the “SFO")), as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the
Company

EERRMG - HERGORERE
=R

RAREBRR - RRAREFREBITH
ABRARR RERE LR (FxR(E
HREEGRMN) ((BEFERBEHRE ]S
XVER) I fn ~ BN REEETHEE
AT ARREE 75 R BA G 1R 01 28 352 fik A 8%
REZIEFT IS LM AR ERSAR
SRR AR BB 8 T FrE 1T
AEFETEFXSHMFTESTED ([
7| ) EMERRNA) LB THER
KogAE -

RAATSRTEBRNER

Number of Approximate

shares or percentage of

Name of Director Capacity underlying shares shareholding
5L g4 R HAEERG BB BAORET DL
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam Interest in controlled corporation 465,000,000 75.0%

( Note)

BRI IE A ZHDEE s (M)

Note: These shares are held by Oceanic Green Group Limited (“Oceanic
Green"), New Strength Ventures Limited (“"New Strength”), Gold Alliance
Ventures Limited (“Gold Alliance”), New Straits Ventures Limited ("New
Straits”), Treasure Line Holdings Limited (“Treasure Line") and Flaming
Sapphire Limited ("Flaming Sapphire”), all of which are wholly owned by
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is deemed
to be interested in the shares held by Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold
Alliance, New Straits, Treasure Line and Flaming Sapphire.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN FERFRNKROREBROH

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

s

As at the date of this report, the following persons (other than the RAFERR  UWTAL(KRRAIES
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests in the FEEBITHRAERBRIN RAR TGS

shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the AR HEE AT ABREEAREE
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of & BIZE 336 8 AN AR 8 X G FTE 1Y

the SFO:

B mm R

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the MRAEAATECRITEZERNEE

Company

Approximate
percentage of
Number of the total issued
ordinary shares of shares of
Name of Shareholder(s) Capacity the Company held the Company
HAEATEIE BT
RREHE &4 A AREEREE RBBABE DL
Oceanic Green Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 Shares 20.5%
B EnERA 127,100,000 A& A% 19 20.5%
New Strength Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 Shares 20.5%
A EREAA 127,100,000 A% f& 17 20.5%
Gold Alliance Beneficial Owner 94,395,000 Shares 15.2%
& 1 EREAA 94,395,000 i A& 15 15.2%
New Straits Beneficial Owner 79,205,000 Shares 12.8%
K EREAA 79,205,000 f& i 17 12.8%
Treasure Line Beneficial Owner 24,800,000 Shares 4.0%
Treasure Line EnlEEA 24,800,000 % & 7 4.0%
Flaming Sapphire Beneficial Owner 12,400,000 Shares 2.0%
Flaming Sapphire EREAA 12,400,000 & A% 17 2.0%
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam® Interest in controlled corporation 465,000,000 Shares 75.0%
BRIEMIEHED RESEEE R 465,000,000 & f% 15 75.0%
Ms. Fung Suk Yee May® Interest of Spouse 465,000,000 Shares 75.0%
HREZ L fo B s 465,000,000 f& &7 75.0%

Notes: B3

(1) Each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance, New Straits, Treasure M) "R FH &% FEW - Treasure

Line and Flaming Sapphire, is wholly-owned by Mr. Chan, who is therefore
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by each of Oceanic Green,
New Strength, Gold Alliance, New Straits, Treasure Line and Flaming

Sapphire.

Line & Flaming Sapphire¥J R EEE
A FAREERBRINER 0
&1 « #FBUK - Treasure Line & Flaming
Sapphire® B AT B 8V ATA K15 *h 5 1
2%

(2) Ms. Fung Suk Yee May is the spouse of Mr. Chan. Therefore, she is deemed ) BREZTBBRILENRS - Eit - BIE

to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Chan is interested for the

purpose of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group, or any other
substantial shareholders whose interests or short positions were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company did not adopt a share option scheme.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received annual confirmations from the
controlling shareholders, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New
Strength, Gold Alliance, New Straits, Treasure Line and Flaming
Sapphire, in respect of their compliance with the non-competition
undertaking provided in favour of the Company. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the said undertaking and
are of the view that Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New
Strength, Gold Alliance, New Straits, Treasure Line and Flaming
Sapphire have complied with the non-competition undertaking
since the Listing Date up to the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2018 are disclosed in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements. These transactions had either
been discontinued before the Company was listed on the Stock
Exchange or constitute fully-exempted continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:
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Percentage of the Group's total

EREEUTRENE DL

Revenue Purchases

Wi KB

The largest customer SARP 51% N/A
The five largest customers in aggregate A AEFEA: 89% N/A
The largest supplier BAMER N/A 32%
The five largest suppliers in aggregate ARHEEER N/A 53%

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Board are aware,
neither the Directors, their associates nor any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors as at the date of this
annual report, there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the
issued shares of the Company under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may
sustain or incur by the execution of his/her duty, provided that the
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors liability insurance in respect of
legal action against Directors.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they

are advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. Mazars
CPA Limited, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.
ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of
Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 155, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 31 December
2018, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements" section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB RE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

The key audit matters
BRENSE

BAEESEE

R E FRERERMNFEHE -
RBHARFEEAPHERRNEARD
EEMNEE - ZFFHEERMEE
B BRi AR RRETRE
B e BT EHREFFREHREFNE

o

o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANETNAEEERETEE

Recognition of costs for the initial listing of the Group
R HEBEEHXLTHAK

Refer to the consolidated income statement.
2ftralmR -

Relevant costs incurred for the initial listing of the
shares of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$20,249,000 (2017: HK$15,844,000) are
allocated and classified among (i) profit or loss
as listing expenses and (ii) equity as a reduction
of share premium upon the capitalisation issue,
on the basis that whether the costs are (i) costs
for the Company to obtain the listing status or
(ii) incremental costs for the Company to raise
additional funds from the issue of new shares,
respectively. Such allocation of the costs involved
significant judgement of the management.

ERBBME RN LETHEENEBER ALY
20,249,000 7T (20174 : 15,844,000 7C) Jh¥ X

AREBRG) BRFRES LA EERA
(i) BERRABTHRNEESBINESMELN

BERARNZEE  DRIESEMDBEOBE (ER
EWRS) KRGt (VAR E A BEITR A &
B) » KRR DB R EXEEEHE -

50

Our key audit procedures included:

BABEREARF 2

- enquiring the management on the bases of
classification and allocation for the relevant costs
and assessed the reasonableness of these bases
with reference to applicable accounting standards
and guidelines; and

— BREEANGHENREENEK  BHEBEXKEARN
PERSEHEEREETEAVIEZEEENE
Bt &

- checking samples of listing expense items incurred
for the initial listing of the shares of the Company
to invoices and agreements to confirm the natures
of the items and checked whether these items have
been correctly allocated and classified accordingly
to bases determined by the management.

- HRWEEBEmERE EARRMDERLEDHA
EEMEMHRXIAR - LWEREENWEE L REZ
FHERARREEEEENEER IR LD

'
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
The key audit matters
BREENSE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZBEN R E

FARETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AN ETNATEEBRENSER

Accordingly, costs attributable to issue of new
shares of approximately HK$13,847,000 (2017:
HK$Nil) were recognised in equity as a reduction of
share premium and costs attributable to obtaining
the listing status of approximately HK$6,402,000
(2017: HK$15,844,000) were charged to profit or
loss during the current year, respectively.

EHit  RAFEE - BETTROATENKEL
13,847,000/8 7T (20174 : T& L) E RN =T HER
BRGOEEEIR - mARS ETHALFTEB AR
#96,402,000/8 7T (20174 :15,844,000/% 70) B &t
A8z o

We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter because the classification and allocation of
relevant costs incurred involves a significant degree
of management judgement and therefore is subject
to a significant inherent risk of error.

B LA ZRERSEREFFH  REEM
AN D ERDEEY REXEEEHE - BitF
EEREEBRAR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB RE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
The key audit matters

BREETER

FARETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANETNAEERERETSEE

Going concern

FESERE

Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2R E S HE M 2 o

In the past several years, the Group invested
significant amount for the construction of the new
site in Huizhou, Guangdong province, the People's
Republic of China. To finance, the Group incurred
significant borrowings. As a consequence, the
current liabilities of the Group exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$13,920,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: HK$133,257,000).

RBEBFRN BEEEREBEBHREAREZNT
ZEARAMBEREHEINFU - BRERME &
SEEEREMGER - Bt - R2018F12831H &
SERHAEEBRBEREEEL13,920,0008 7T
(20174F :133,257,000&7T) °

At 31 December 2018, the Group had unutilised
banking facilities of approximately HK$172,623,000
(2017: HK$182,207,000) and was granted
additional indicative credit facility of HK$Nil (20177:
HK$75,600,000).

MR2018F12A31H » EEBBARFAMNRITHRED
172,623,00078 7T (20174F :182,207,000/& ) * I
TERZ BT (20174 © 75,600,000, 7T ) B F8IMNE TR
HEERE -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter because should the Group be unable to
operate as a going concern, significant adjustments
would have been made to the consolidated financial
statements.

BMER LA EEERRERETSFE  RERMW
E BEEEBEZRBELEERERSE  AEEA

MBEHRRIEHERAE
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Our key audit procedures included:

BABEREAEF R

- inspecting the banking facilities letters;

— ZBRETRER

- verifying the unutilised amounts of the available
banking facilities; and

— RERABAAIHRITRER &

- enquiring and challenging the management on the
assessment of the Group's adoption of the going
concern assumption.

- EARENETEY ERERMELEERERY
S -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

The key audit matters
BRETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZBEN R E

FARETEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANETNAEERRETEE

Recoverability of trade receivables

B SR IER AL e 1

Refer to Note 2 (critical accounting estimates
and judgements) and Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

’%j:/ﬁﬁ? BB BAN T2 (B & a1 a RAET) K HT
L7 e

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying amount
of trade receivables amounted to approximately
HK$225,345,000 (after the provision of
approximately HK$4,662,000) and HK$91,277,000,
which approximated 23% and 14% of the Group's
total assets, respectively.

M2018FE K 2017512 310 » B ZEWFENE
EED B4 /A225,345,0008 7T (BT IREBLD
4,662,000/ 70) 291,277,000 7T » AR &HE
Bl & EMNHI23% N 14% °

Management performed credit evaluations for the
Group's customers and assessed expected credit
losses of trade receivables. These assessments were
focused on the customers' settlement record and their
current repayment ability, and also took into account
information specific to respective customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operated.

EEEY SREENEPETEENGLEE SRR
FRENBHEEEBEBRELNE - ZFHEZERES
WSS EBRERE  TEBHRETEFES
RESEMREERRHABER -

All of these assessments involved significant
judgements of the management.

B S S R A R E 1B -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter because subjective judgements were made by
the management over assessing the credit standing of
the Group's customers and therefore the estimation
of expected credit losses of trade receivables.

BME W L EEmRRERESEE  RASEE
EBHRHE BREFFPHNEMRINALGESE
WRRr TR E BB R Eh T B A -

Our key audit procedures included:
B EREAEF e

- obtaining management's assessment of expected
credit losses of trade receivables and assessed the
reasonableness of the key underlying information
referenced by the management;

- DREEEEHBEZIRUFGENEREESEBETY
FE - WA EREM2ENERIEEERES S
I8

- where impairment provision was individually made,
we checked and assessed whether the impairment
provision was properly supported by considering
available forward-looking information, the debtors’
ageing analysis, settlement record and history of
bad debt; and

— HEHERERRERE - HARE RHEREREE
BREEZEABAEEER - EHAREIN - BH
CHSIRRE L MIRUEE X5% - &

5

- in respect of receivables of individual customer
which had not been identified by management
as potentially impaired, we corroborated
management's assessment with the external
evidence obtained (e.g. public information available
to us, our examination of the customers’ payment
records during the current year and subsequent
to the end of the reporting period, as well as the
historical collection records).

— BUREEIEE BRI REBERER [E R P 2 YR
AME - RPPRBESZIMBERE (R
ASER - HPRAFERBERRERE TP
OB H IR SR A MR SR AR A 8% ) 7B BB IR FE Ry AT A4 o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB RE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in 2018 annual report but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

* |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB RE

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2019

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: PO5510
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

meEllEk

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H It F[E

2018 2017
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(s FET FET
Revenue Iz 4 959,947 572,864
Cost of goods sold 7 o 85 B BUR (722,123) (438,825)
Gross profit EF 237,824 134,039
Other income HAw g A 5 5,410 4,868
Fair value loss on financial assets BAREFABENEREE
at FVPL NREEE (272) -
Selling and distribution costs SHE K SHRCR (12,457) (11,604)
Administrative and other operating ~ 7TE N E 4 &
expenses (107,794) (66,909)
Finance costs EUp DN 6 (12,027) (13,525)
Listing expenses EmREX (6,402) (15,844)
Profit before tax RRBE AR R 6 104,282 31,025
Income tax expenses Frig®if 9 (28,527) (10,947)
Profit for the year, attributable to &2 F#EFFHE AELL
equity holders of the Company FREF 75,755 20,078
Earnings per share attributable to &2 F#FiEHE AEN HK cents HK cents
equity holders of the Company BRER b= B
Basic AR 1 12.80 4.32
Diluted e 1 12.80 4.32
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEEEWER

Year ended 31 December 2018 & 2201812 A31H IEF[E

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Profit for the year FEREF 75,755 20,078
Other comprehensive (loss) income: H {2 HE (&iE) W :
Items that may be reclassified HESSESABm s HE
subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in fair value of AR ESRHEELARBEED
available-for-sale financial assets - 269
Exchange difference on consolidation & I 5 =58 (4,831) 16,679
(4,831) 16,948
Total comprehensive income for the A REZIFTEAEBMLFER
year, attributable to equity holders ZHENZE4EE
of the Company 70,924 37,026
AREEZRERAT 2085F%H 59



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE MBI R

At 31 December 2018 72018412 A31H

2018 2017
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(s FHET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BWE NERE 13 484,833 398,502
Prepaid land lease payments AR L E ERIE 14 43,91 46,351
Financial assets at FVPL BAREFAERED
BRIAE 15 26,841 -
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHTESREE 15 - 10,506
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBE = 23 2,818 2179
558,403 457,538
Current assets REBEE
Prepaid land lease payments AR L E ERIA 14 1,085 1,117
Inventories T8 16 85,928 55,272
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk E b ERFIE 17 261,561 120,214
Income tax recoverable AR B TS FR 3,358 1,057
Bank balances and cash RITEH MRS 61,414 19,591
413,346 197,251
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 2 5 R E M ERFIE 18 252,854 114,541
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 19 - 1,024
Income tax payables FET TSR 14,443 3,250
Payables for construction in progress e T2 RE 20 11,927 28,176
Interest-bearing borrowings FrEMER 21 125,627 172,416
Obligations under finance leases B FH & AE 22 22,415 11,101
427,266 330,508
Net current liabilities REBEEEHE (13,920) (133,257)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMEIRR R

At 31 December 2018 72018412 A31H

2018 2017
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FHET FHT
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABER 544,483 324,281
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Payables for construction in progress JEMER TIEF0E 20 11,827 -
Interest-bearing borrowings FEER 21 22,969 20,097
Obligations under finance leases RbE T E R 22 42,879 9,567
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBE & 23 15,567 10,503
93,242 40,167
NET ASSETS EEFE 451,241 284,114
Capital and reserves ERRHE
Share capital N 24 62,000 -*
Reserves ] 25 389,241 284,114
TOTAL EQUITY R 451,241 284,114
* less than HK$1,000 * 1,000 7T
These consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 155 were FEL58H E155 K% % AR

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

March 2019 and signed on its behalf by

CHAN Tsan Lam
FR 42 AR

Director

EF

CHENG Chak

192
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I F/E

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FAABREEARY
Share Share Capital Statutory  Translation  Revaluation  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve grofits Totfl
i RHEE ERfk EERE RERE Efifif ERE] @it
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000
Tin Tén Tin Tén Tin Tn Tz Tin
(Note24)  (Note 25(2))  (Note25(b)) ~ (Note25(c)) ~ (Note25(d)) ~ (Note 25(e))
() (@) (MEs0)  (Ese)  (HEs0)  (HEse)
At1January 2017 H2017%1818 77810 4837 (14,819) 532 178,728 247,088
Profit for the year FRal 20078 20,078
Other comprehensive income: ~ EA2EKE :
Items that may be reclassified Bk 2E5|\Ens BE
subsequently to profit or loss )
Changes in fair value of ARHESBEE/ DB
available-for-sale financial assets » 269 269
Exchange difference on AHERES
consolidation 16,679 16,679
Total comprehensive income EREENELE
for the year 16,679 269 20,078 37,026
Transaction with owners: BEEANRS
Contribution and distributions ~ HERATE
Issue of share capital (Note 24(2) B1TRA (Wi 24(2)) -
At 31December 2017 R2017512R318 - 71810 4837 1860 801 198,806 284114
At1January 2018 201851718 * 71,810 4,831 1,860 801 198,806 284114
Adjustment on adoption of ARERHBREENZITH
HKFRS 9 ks - - - - (801) 801 -
As at 1 January 2018 201851818
(after adjustment) (%) * - 71,810 4,831 1,860 - 199,607 284114
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 75,755 75,755
Other comprehensive loss: Ef2mEEE:
Items that may be reclassified Bk72E5|\Enl BE
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on AHERES
consolidation - - - (4,831) - - (4,831)
Total comprehensive (loss) income A2 (F8) NaEEE
for the year - - - (4,831) - 75,7155 70,924
Transactions with owners: BEEANRS
Appropriation of statutory reserve ﬁﬁﬂ‘}iﬁﬁﬁ = 5 7,498 - = (7,498) -
Issue of shares pursuant tothe  RIEE A ETRTRA
Capitalisation Issue (Note 24(c)) ~ (H224(c)) 46,500 (46,500) - - - - - -
Issue of shares pursuanttothe  REZREELTTRY
Global Offering (Note 24(e) ~ (Wiiz24(@) 15,500 94,550 - - - - - 10,050
Transaction costs attributable to ?i‘ﬁﬂ%@ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁm
issue of shares (Note 24(d)) (Wat24@) - (13,847) - - - - - (13,847)
Total transactions with owners ~ FREHAE AN 2R
for the year 62,000 34,203 - 7,498 - - (7,498) 96,203
At 31December 2018 R2018E12531H 62,000 34,203 71,810 12,335 (29M) - 267,864 451,241

* less than HK$1,000

62
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2018 & Z=2018F 12 A31H IEF[E

2018 2017
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE THET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERED
Cash generated from operations KESRE 26 124,633 100,939
Income tax paid BTATER (14,136) (9,116)
Net cash from operating activities & EHFEREEE 110,497 91,823
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZH
Interest received A E 47 36
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - WE NRETSEHIE
plant and equipment 3,831 -
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BELEME
equipment (47,280) (17,466)
Purchase of financial assets at BEERANEFABRD
FVPL/available-for-sale financial TREE/HEESRE
assets BE (16,607) (2,723)
Net cash used in investing activities REEBHFTARE EE (60,009) (20,153)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Inception of interest-bearing SIAGTBfER
borrowings 28(b) 408,190 375,325
Repayment of interest-bearing BB EMEN
borrowings 28(b) (449,952) (360,218)
Repayment of loans from the Ultimate B8 R B &ALIZBR T ER
Controlling Party 28(b) - (29,866)
Repayment of payables for EEEMNEREIERIE
construction in progress 28(b) (39,286) (27,595)
Repayment of obligations under EEmMERERE
finance leases 28(b) (12,194) 11,313)
Proceeds from the Global Offering IR E TS RIA 24(d) 110,050 -
Payment for transaction costs TRETRDHR S KA
attribute to issue of shares 24(d) (13,847) -
Interest paid BERFE (10,877) (12,029)
Net cash used in financing activities BE EBFIAREEE (7,916) (65,696)
RAEEBMERERAT 20184551 63



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H It F[E

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Net increase in cash and ReRREESEWENFE
cash equivalents 42,572 5974
Cash and cash equivalents at FUHEESRESEZEY
the beginning of the year 18,567 13,093
Effect on exchange rate changes HEREFHH L 275 (500)
Cash and cash equivalents at theend ERARER A EZEEY -
of the year, represented by BRITESRRIRE
bank balances and cash 61,414 18,567
Analysis of the balances of cashand RE&R RS EEYELR DT
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 61,414 19,591
Bank overdrafts RITBE X - (1,024)
61,414 18,567
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF

PRESENTATION

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “"Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 26 April 2017 and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 March 2018. The
registered office of the Company is situated at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The Company's principal place of business is
situated at Unit 6, 13/F, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial Centre, 55
Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company together with its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group"”) is principally engaged
in manufacturing and sales of electronic cigarettes products
("e-cigarettes products”) and providing integrated plastic
solutions in Hong Kong and in the PRC.

Pursuant to the group reorganisation to rationalise the
group structure for the initial listing (the “Initial Listing”)
of the shares of the Company (the “Reorganisation”), the
Company acquired the entire equity interests in the companies
comprising the Group from Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (the “Ultimate
Controlling Party”). The Reorganisation was completed
on 12 June 2017 and since then, the Company became the
holding company of the companies comprising the Group (the
“"Combined Entities").

The Combined Entities and the Company are under the
common control of the Ultimate Controlling Party prior to and
after the Reorganisation, and that control is not transitory.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and the comparative information
for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been prepared
using the principles of merger accounting in accordance with
Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting under Common
Control Combination” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA").

AREEZERERATF

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

1.

66

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION (conTINUED)

The consolidated income statements, the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated
statements of cash flows of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 have been prepared on the basis
as if the current group structure has been in existence since 1
January 2017, or since the respective dates of incorporation or
establishment, where there is a shorter period.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure requirements under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

At 31 December 2018, the current liabilities of the Group
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$13,920,000
(2017: HK$133,257,000).

At 31 December 2018, the Group had unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$172,623,000 (2017:
HK$182,207,000) and was granted additional indicative credit
facility of HK$Nil (2017: HK$75,600,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The management of the Company is of the opinion that,
taking into account the confirmed credit commitments from
financial institutions and internal financial resources of the
Group, the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements. Hence, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the value of assets
to their recoverable amounts, and to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group
in preparing the consolidated financial statements is set out below.

The Group has consistently applied all HKFRSs which are
effective for the Group's financial year beginning on 1 January
2017 for the consolidated financial statements, except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year as set out below.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group.

HK(FRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

The Interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance
consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which
an entity initially recognised the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.

The adoption of the Interpretation does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)
HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments

The following terms are used in these consolidated financial
statements:

FVPL: fair value through profit or loss.

= FVOCI: fair value through other comprehensive income.

* Designated FVOCI: equity instruments measured at
FVOCI.

*  Mandatory FVOCI: debt instruments measured at FVOCI.

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2018. It introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, impairment for financial assets and hedge

accounting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Continued)

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 9,

comparative information has not been restated and the Group

has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to financial instruments
that existed at 1 January 2018 (i.e. the date of initial
application), except as described below (if applicable):

(a)

(b)

The following assessments are made on the basis of
facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial
application:

(i) the determination of the business model within which
a financial asset is held;

(ii) the designation of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL or, in case of financial assets, at
Designated FVOCI; and

(iii) the de-designation of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL.

The above resulting classification shall be applied
retrospectively.

If, at the date of initial application, determining whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition would require undue cost or effort, a
loss allowance is recognised at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses at each reporting date until the
financial instrument is derecognised unless that financial
instrument has low credit risk at a reporting date.
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)
HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Continued)

(c) For investments in equity instruments that were measured
at cost under HKAS 39, the instruments are measured at
fair value at the date of initial application.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities

The following table reconciles the original measurement
categories and carrying amounts under HKAS 39 to the new
measurement categories and carrying amounts under HKFRS
9 for each class of the Group's financial assets as at 1 January
2018.

As at 1 January 2018

2. TESTHER®

KAHE BETEBHME

WEZER (@)

ERMBERELEREIR 5

ITH@

() RIREF B G ERIFE 395
BEAGTENEZ TAREM
T TATRYIGER BB
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TREERSRAB BN ERE
=

TREFYIANEER2018F1H1HE
HEREERB BT ERE399
EHTIWREFEER RRMEREZ
EEERB BV BRELERFEON
H TR 28R MR EM LR

M2018F1H1H

Measurement category and
carrying amount under

70

HKFRS 9
BERVHRELEAEIFRET
Carrying KEt 28R R REE
amount under Amortised
HKAS 39 cost FVPL
EBGFEA
#3957 IE T BRARE
K ERE B B A PNk
Measurement category ARG ENEIORET HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
under HKAS 39 KT =185 FET FET FET
Available-for-sale financial JREESHEE
assets
Unlisted investments - key FEETMRE-FTEEEER
management insurance a4 (Bati)
contracts (note i) 10,506 - 10,506
Loans and receivables (note i) B R EWE (ffztii)
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 19,591 19,591 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H A EWRRIE 113,439 113,439 -
143,536 133,030 10,506
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and

financial liabilities (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The unlisted investments - key management insurance contracts
that were previously classified as available-for-sale financial assets
amounted to approximately HK$10,506,000 are now classified as
FVPL. They do not meet the criteria to be classified as amortised cost
or Mandatory FVOCI in accordance with HKFRS 9 because their cash
flows do not represent solely payments of principal and/or interest
and they are not equity investments.

Related fair value gains of HK$801,000 at 1 January 2018 were
transferred from revaluation reserves to accumulated profits on 1
January 2018.

(ii) These items continue to be measured at amortised cost.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has no significant effect on the
classification and measurement of the Group's financial
liabilities.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 replaces, among others, HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 which
specified the revenue recognition arising from sale of goods
and rendering of services and the accounting for construction
contracts respectively. HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive
framework for revenue recognition and certain costs from
contracts with customers within its scope. It also introduces
a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that would result
in an entity providing users of financial statements with
comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the
entity's contracts with customers.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have any significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2,

72

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
the financial assets at FVPL and available-for-sale financial
assets which are measured at fair value as explained in the
accounting policy as set out below.

Basis of consolidation/combinations

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and
profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated/
combined from the date on which the Group obtains control
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control

ceases.

Merger accounting for common control combinations
The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
combined using the existing carrying values from the Ultimate
Controlling Party’s perspective. No amount is recognised as
consideration for goodwill or excess of acquirer’'s interest in
the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost at the time of common control
combination, to the extent of the contribution of the Ultimate
Controlling Party's interest. All differences between the cost of
acquisition (fair value of consideration paid) and the amounts
at which the assets and liabilities are recorded have been
recognised directly in equity as part of the capital reserve.
The consolidated financial statements include the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from the date
of incorporation/establishment or since the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the common
control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of
the common control combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuepy 2. EEEFBER )

Basis of consolidation/combinations (Continued)
Merger accounting for common control combinations
(Continued)

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration
fees, costs of furnishing information to shareholders, costs
or losses incurred in combining operations of the previously
separate businesses, etc., incurred in relation to the common
control combination that is to be accounted for by using
merger accounting, are recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial position which is
presented in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher
than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the dividends received and/or
receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives as
set out below from the date on which they are available for use
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the
cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
and depreciated separately:

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

HEMEERE

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
RRREERE 5%
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
2 52104
Motor vehicles 3 years
E 3F
Computer 5-10 years
Bk 5E104F

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Construction in progress represents buildings, leasehold
improvements and machinery and equipment under
construction. It is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the
direct costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when the
construction is completed and the asset is available for use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuepy 2. EEEFBER )

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments are up-front payments to acquire
fixed term interests in lessee-occupied land that are classified
as operating leases. The premiums are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses and are
amortised over the period of the lease on a straight-line basis
to profit or loss.

Research and development cost

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred
in development activities, which involve the application
of research findings to a plan or design for the production
of new or substantially improved products and processes,
are capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources
to complete the development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss as an expense as incurred.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group's contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not
retain control of the financial asset.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated

liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets - applicable from 1 January 2018

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are
initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (ii) Mandatory FVOCI; (iii)
Designated FVOCI; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group's business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’'s contractual cash
flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which case
all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of
the first annual or interim reporting period, where appropriate,
following the change in the business model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Financial assets - applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

D

2)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include
trade and other receivables and bank balances and cash.

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies. They are carried
at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss recognised
in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or interest
income is presented separately from fair value gain or loss.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

78

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Financial assets - applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

2) Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the

near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract
or not a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group's financial assets measured at FVPL include
the unlisted investments - key management insurance

contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

Financial assets - applicable before 1 January 2018

1) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables including trade and other
receivables and bank balances and cash are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market and are not held for
trading. They are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, except where receivables are
interest-free loans and without any fixed repayment term
or the effect of discounting would be insignificant. In such
case, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment
loss. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition over the period
to maturity. Gains and losses arising from derecognition,
impairment or through the amortisation process are
recognised in profit or loss.

2) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets that are either designated at this category
or not classified in any of the other categories of financial
assets. They are included in non-current assets unless the
investment matures or management intends to dispose of
it within 12 months at the end of the reporting period.

The unlisted investments of key management insurance
contracts are measured at fair value with changes in value
recognised as a separate component of equity until the
assets are sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until
the assets are determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in other
comprehensive income shall be reclassified to profit or
loss as a reclassification adjustment.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuepy 2. EEEFBER )

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, bank overdrafts, interest-bearing borrowings,
payables for construction in progress and obligations under
finance leases. All financial liabilities, are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method, unless the effect
of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
reporting period, respectively. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, respectively, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuepy 2. EEEFBER )

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

Applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses ("ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost to which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of
the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuepy 2. EEEFBER )

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

All financial assets, except for trade receivables, are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuepy 2. EEEFBER )

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Applicable before 1 January 2018

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there is objective evidence that financial assets,
other than those at FVPL, are impaired. The impairment loss
of financial assets carried at amortised cost is measured
as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flow discounted
at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Such
impairment loss is reversed in subsequent periods through
profit or loss when an increase in the asset's recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, a
cumulative loss comprising the difference between its acquisition
cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any previously recognised impairment
loss in profit or loss, is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
as a reclassification adjustment. Impairment losses recognised
in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity instrument
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase
in fair value of available-for-sale equity instrument after
recognition of impairment loss is recognised in equity. Reversal
of impairment loss of available-for-sale debt instruments are
reversed through profit or loss, if the increase in fair value of the
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss.

For an available-for-sale financial asset that is carried at cost,
the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such

impairment loss shall not be reversed.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

2. TESTHER®

SRT A @
ERMERELEREIRETNS
mMEERHEAMIEEEE®
A2018F1A1HAIEA
AEBRESHREPRIGRS
RENRBEREMEE (KARE
FABEMEREERIN) BRI
B REHENASENEREER
BEBELEERAELRLZERE
EREBRAMEMBENMEGTAKRS
MEREMERNEZERETE - B2E
= B AT Y [0] 5 BE 4 02 E b B A R
WEEMBENEMHER - EER
BHEBEREZAMERBERRED -
HHRETEECELDREE ANERE
BENSHBBEYERIZRENER
JEB BV EE S AN o

AL ESREERER - BB
B (2 BRI = K # A %)
BB A A EZ B ERRER 2
AR B et R 2 B E B R P18 R AT
EERGHERENDBEES - 7
FEHDBHE - AL EERT
ARBEaER I REBR AR
Bamm o A ERER T ANE
R EBER Z A EE NS
R iR - Al EEH T
ARREENNETERRER RS
ERRERBRRBEEZSEHAR
AZTAREBREREEAREE
[E]

Al g E 2 BB ERAATI
AREREERASREERAEE
B AU S B EERE M50 &K
BRI RN RERELE
BETH - ARBMEBETSED -

AEEBERAERAT 2018FFH 85



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2,

86

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, cost of conversion and other costs that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition, is calculated using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, net of bank overdrafts (if any).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to determine whether
there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments and the Company's
investments in subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may be reduced.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group
of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements is presented in the currency of Hong Kong Dollars
("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company,
and rounded to the nearest thousands unless otherwise
indicated.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

* assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented, are translated at the closing rate at the
end of each reporting period;

* income and expenses for each income statement and
statement of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate;

* all resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising from
a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity;

* on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation and a disposal involving the loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

on the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling
interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified
to profit or loss; and

on all other partial disposals, the proportionate share of
the cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised
in the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit
or loss.

Revenue recognition
Applicable from 1 January 2018

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is

as follows:

(i) manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products.

(ii) manufacturing and sales of moulds and plastic products.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or

services promised in a contract with a customer and identify

as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the

customer either:

(a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is

distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially

the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations (Continued)

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(a) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sale of e-cigarettes products and sale of moulds and plastic
products are recognised at a point in time at which the
customer obtains the control of the promised asset, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered
to customers and the title is passed.

Presentation of receivable, contract assets and contract
liabilities

Within the context of HKFRS 15, a receivable is an entity's
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If an entity performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, the entity shall present the contract
as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or
an entity has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the entity transfers a good or service
to the customer, the entity shall present the contract as a
contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is
due (whichever is earlier).

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, contract balances relating to
service contracts were presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position under “receipt in advance”. However,
under HKFRS 15, certain of the balances are reclassified into
“contract assets” or “contract liabilities” where appropriate.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

2. TESTHER®

WEER @
EH20185F181BBEMA &)
EAMBRELEAEISHKRBEES
EHHWE (@

W zs HEER I B (AT (48)
WEHNEEEY RN —BERFREARE
B IR BREFIREYFT&ES
BEMNZFERESRBHOEL - B
BTG EMREEERE A%
E 2= B fl S A REERT
B BEEREE - NRGERE -
BEHEBENEXRR &BIHR AL
BEEXESEIEZ -

BEFEEMEEARBEARBREE
miHEREPBSEH M AKEEEN
ZHIER (—REFRXNTERP
KA ER R ERR )RR -

FEWHIE - EHWEERAHWEER
E=7)
RIEFBMBRELRES - &
WK TR 7 B B AR R A (E A0 4
Ao IREEBRBHEBZINEKRA
A - MEREBNEL XN
B A5 7 B 5 A1 5 7 m s AR A5 88
BETEFPRAY  AEBE/ZAR
2IRENEE(TER2ZIRIE
WHRIBRERE2E) - R W
ERRNEPEREMAMB A
EPXNREXHERERERTK
BRE - AIEBENEPEHNR
KA BN REN S (UARRERE)
KB BEMALRE -

REANBEMBHHREERE155
Al - EIRFAKNARNAE BRI
RAMBEPORRIA T H [ FBYFRIA
25 - R REFEMBERE
ERE 50 ETHEBENEER
EMOBREIGNEEIXIANEA

&l

AEEBERAERAT 2018FFH 91



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Applicable before 1 January 2018

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably and on the
following basis:

Sale of good is recognised on transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the
goods are delivered to customers and the title is passed.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Finance leases, as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
statement of financial position as finance lease obligation.
Finance charges, which represent the difference between the
total leasing commitments and the lease liability, are charged
to profit or loss over the term of the relevant lease so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

Operating leases

Rentals payables/receivables under operating leases are
charged/credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant leases.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2018

2. TESTHER®

WEER @

M2018FE1A1H AIE A

W R EEBEFSRAERANE
BB A RS R AR AS (JniE R ) g m
S EMBERNTHER  BREE
(1

EYHEEREAE 2R R kD &R
BRE(—REEMINTEP KA
BB OREAER)#ER -

HE
HEFRF B OB A B
KERER TABANEE - 55
BRABEMHE - rEEMAESSD
BRREHE -

MEESE - FREEA

REREHERANEERHEER
ENAREBMREHENRNERE
(ABREERE)BRASAEENE
E - HHEANHEBETESRE
HEAEAAMBRRE - REE

MZER - DREBEREFHARE
SRR - BAS TS HB A
ERENPRE R B -

REEE

KEREETHEN BEES®
MHEHEFHANEREEEEF
LIS YON

BEEF

BHEREER

e FEIEL  HHEFREIER
RN TR R B e A8 R RS
K HAR RET



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuepy 2. EEEFBER )

Employee benefits (continued)

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group had no forfeited contribution
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
employees of the Group's entities established in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement plans
organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans
are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these
monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

Long service payments

The Group's net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods. The obligation
is calculated using the projected unit credit method and
discounted to its present value and after deducting the fair
value of any related assets, including those retirement scheme
benefits.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill, or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is
not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
undistributed dividend, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person's family is
related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a holding company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

e ISR AR M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE
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96

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (Continued)
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii)A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to a holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
Group’s most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group's accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

98

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)
(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(0)

(ii)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The management determines the estimated useful
lives of the Group's property, plant and equipment
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and
functions. The estimated useful lives could be different
as a result of technical innovations which could affect
the related depreciation charges included in profit or

loss.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments

The management determines whether the Group's
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land
lease payments are impaired when an indication of
impairment exists. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease payments, which is
based on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. Estimating the value in use requires
the management to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease payments and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Any impairment
will be charged to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)
(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii) Deferred tax assets

The recognition of the deferred tax assets mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future.
In cases where the actual future profits generated are
less than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which such a reversal takes
place.

(iv) Loss allowance for ECL

()

The Group's management estimates the loss
allowance for trade receivables by using various
inputs and assumptions including but not limited to
risk of default. The estimation involves high degree of
uncertainty which is based on the Group's historical
information, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of trade receivables.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the condition of inventories
at the end of each reporting period and makes
allowance for inventories that are identified as
obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable. The
management carries out the inventory review on a
product-by-product basis and makes allowances by
reference to the latest market prices and current
market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)
(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vi) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain where the final tax
outcome of these matters may be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded and such
differences will affect the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

(b) Critical judgement made in applying accounting

100

policies
(i) Recognition of costs for the Initial Listing

The management determines the allocation and
classification of relevant costs incurred for the Initial
Listing among (i) profit or loss as listing expenses
and (ii) equity as a reduction of share premium upon
the capitalisation issue based on its judgement on
whether such costs are (i) costs for the Company to
obtain the listing status or (ii) incremental costs for
the Company to raise additional funds from the issue

of new shares, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial

statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised

HKFRSs that are not yet effective for current year, which the

Group has not early adopted.

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs
HKFRS 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to

2015-2017 Cycle'

Leases'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Employee benefits'

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’

Definition of a Business?

Definition of Material ?

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

2. FEEHBER W

BRMBEREEANARREE
RESIRARBRREBBES &
BRHMAGERG THIRAFE

fel AR A2 R0 LS 52 [ 3F S 4R

GIEZSAL0

el AERT BB BmE R o

HKASs 1Tand 8
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*
Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of the

first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

5 The effective date to be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2,

102

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Future changes in HKFRSs (Continued)

The management of the Company does not anticipate that the
application of these new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will
have any material impact on the financial performance and
financial position of the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being identified as the chief operating decision
makers ("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
delivered. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments
are as follows:

1) E-cigarettes products segment: manufacture and sales of

e-cigarettes products.

2) Integrated plastic solutions segment: manufacture and

sales of moulds and plastic products.

Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from
manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products and
manufacture and sale of moulds and plastic products.

Segment results represent the gross profit less selling
and distribution costs incurred by each segment without
allocation of other income, fair value loss on financial assets
at FVPL, administrative and other operating expenses, finance
costs, listing expenses and income tax expenses. This is
the information reported to the CODM of the Group for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)
The followings are analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments:

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

3. 7EER @

TEPUN S R EE )
AT AREBRARERELDIH
W M EEDT

Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total
—BBxs
BYEEM R T R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZE2018F12831H 1k
FE
Segment revenue PaR=il G 485,689 474,258 959,947
Gross profit EH 127,799 110,025 237,824
Selling and distribution costs SHE R KA = (12,457) (12,457)
Segment results DERELE 127,799 97,568 225,367

Unallocated income and expenses K EA R B

Other income HA A 5,410
Fair value loss on financial assets at IR AR BT ABZRS R

FVPL BENAIEER (272)
Administrative and other operating ~ fTH R H & & 552

expenses (107,794)
Finance costs EURCID RN (12,027)
Listing expenses EmRX (6,402)
Profit before tax Bk 75 Al v ) 104,282
Income tax expenses FriSfif X (28,527)
Profit for the year FREN 75,755
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTINUED)

3. 7EER @

Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEWE R EE
Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total
—8fE
EFEEM AT R w5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE20177F12 A31H 1t
FE
Segment revenue ek = 250,985 321,879 572,864
Gross profit E7 76,448 57,591 134,039
Selling and distribution costs #HE K $HK AR - (11,604) (11,604)
Segment results DEPEE 76,448 45,987 122,435
Unallocated income and expenses RDEWA R G
Other income E A 4,868
Administrative and other operating 7T M EA4E &
expenses (66,909)
Finance costs B TSR ZR (13,525)
Listing expenses EmHX (15,844)
Profit before tax B B A& A 31,025
Income tax expenses Frigfif = (10,947)
Profit for the year F (A4 A 20,078
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ConTINUED) 3. 7EER @

Segment assets and liabilities THEERER
Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions  Unallocated Total
—BBibixe
ETEER BRAE ROE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FETT
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12 A31H
Assets EE )
Reportable segment assets AREDIEE 149,368 446,836 375,545 971,749
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities A REDEFEE 82,515 94,754 343,239 520,508
Other information HigR
Capital expenditure EARFEY 1,537 131,042 5,653 138,232
Depreciation e 3,434 21,873 3,224 28,531
Amortisation g - - 1,154 1,154
Loss on disposal of property,  HEME - BENZRE
plant and equipment gl 3 3,595 557 4,155
Loss allowance of trade B RWGRIAEIERE
receivables - 4,662 - 4,662
At 31 December 2017 2017412 A31H
Assets EE )
Reportable segment assets AREDEEE 44,927 280,540 329,322 654,789
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities ~ A[$R&E D EE & 25,01 57,342 288,322 370,675
Other information Eﬂﬁﬁﬂ
Capital expenditure BERHY 1,575 20,244 11,165 32,984
Depreciation e 3,366 20,629 2,608 26,603
Amortisation B - - 1,039 1,039
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE K&RE
plant and equipment B8 - 102 35 137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

* segment assets include certain property, plant and
equipment, inventories and trade and bills receivables.
Other assets are not allocated to operating segments as
these assets are managed on a group basis; and

*  segment liabilities include trade payables. Other liabilities
are not allocated to operating segments as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of the Group's prepaid land lease payments and
property, plant and equipment (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the assets.

DEERE @
’“‘BEE&EF &)

MEED BRI R DD EER
ms :

- NHEERREETUE  BE

KEw  FENE S RWRIA
MW R - ﬁﬁﬂé?i’ﬂi"
REZ&2n# ARFEER

SEEALEER R

MABEBRE SRR -
HMBEORIRELED
M AREFREREEEEE
EEO

it B &

TR BFEARERENLHEE
RIBARDE - BB & (THEE
FRBEE DML ENER - 58
FIERDEEMNMBLETINEE
M ERLE RKE -

7/l

S
=%

Specified non-current assets EEFRBEE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Hong Kong 57 3,085 557
The PRC ai 526,744 445,413
529,829 445,970
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED) 3. 7HER =
Geographical information (Continued) HEER @
Information about the Group's revenue from external BRAKREEINPBERWZZHERTY
customers is presented based on the location of customers. BREFPHMNERY -
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue from external customers REINEBEF Rz
The United States of America EFRE REH 199,626 203,611
The PRC Fh 290,661 168,005
The United Kingdom K 386,141 108,855
Hong Kong BE 75,914 86,230
Others Hh 7,605 6,163
959,947 572,864
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ConTINUED) 3. 7EER @
FBRTEEFNER
HE2018FE K 2017E12 A318 IEE
EEBERERBLUZEI0% A

Information about major customers
Details of the entities individually accounting for 10% or more
of aggregate revenue of the Group during the years ended 31

108

December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

MEROFITOT

Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total
—BxE
BrEER BRE R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Year ended 31 December 2018 B Z£2018F12A31H
LFE
Customer A and its affiliated EPANEBB AR
companies 483,183 10,843 494,026
Customer D and its affiliated EFPDRHEBEATR
companies - 147,250 147,250
Customer C and its affiliated EFPCRHEB AT
companies - 122,185 122,185
483,183 280,278 763,461
Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE2017F12 A31H
IFFE
Customer A and its affiliated BEPANAEBE AR
companies 249,239 5,440 254,679
Customer B and its affiliated EFBRHAEAR
companies - 87,207 87,207
Customer C and its affiliated EFPChRHEBBAT
companies - 79,790 79,790
249,239 172,437 421,676
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

4. REVENUE 4. W%

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET

Revenue from contracts with customers BB GRS 2ERIE1555%

within HKFRS 15 REEPEHRWE
Sale of e-cigarettes products HEETEER 485,689 250,985
Sale of moulds and plastic products HEEANBRBR S 474,258 321,879
959,947 572,864
5. OTHER INCOME 5. Htlk A

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Bank interest income RITH B WA 47 36
Exchange gain, net PE H W F R 834 -
Management service income B ARIEUA 920 180
Rental and utilities recharge income e RKEEREBRA 2,156 1,879
Sales of scrap materials FERISHERE 1,242 2,097
Sundry income HMIEUT A 1,041 676
5,410 4,868
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging (crediting):

6. FRBLATEF

SEFRR (G A) TFIBRIIRR -

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Finance costs B 7% R A
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings FrEERFE 9,779 9,816
Interest on bank overdrafts RITEZFIE 20 92
Interest on loans from the Ultimate REFEERFERNFE
Controlling Party - 1,199
Interest on payables for construction in FERME R T IR FIERFIE
progress 1,150 1,496
Finance charges on obligations under MEREAENTHBI L
finance leases 1,078 922
12,027 13,525
Staff costs, including directors’ BEIRKN(BEESHE)
emoluments
Employee benefits expenses EERAIRX 174,155 17,624
Contributions to defined contribution M) E BB SR RET B R
retirement schemes 13,946 5,841
188,101 123,465
Other items Hihig g
Cost of inventories FERAR 722,123 438,825
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments TE5 + 3 FH & ZR B #E 84 (5T A
(charged to “administrative and other [TTE R EAMELERY )
operating expenses”) 1,154 1,039
Auditor's remuneration 1% 2B %7 B 1,309 1,293
Depreciation (charged to “cost of goods e GrATBEMRESERA R
sold” and “administrative and other [TTE R E A& Y ]
operating expenses”, as appropriate) (@A) 28,531 26,603
Exchange (gain) loss, net 5 () BEES (834) 1,022
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BELREESE
equipment 4,155 137
Operating lease payments (charged to LERENRGTAI B
“cost of goods sold” and “administrative SHERA | R I1TB R E AL
and other operating expenses”, as LR | (@A)
appropriate) 1,422 4,847
Research and development expenses EErs 5,350 2,224
Loss allowance of trade receivables B SRS E R 4,662 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

(a) Directors' remuneration

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
26 April 2017 and Mr. Chan Tsan Lam was appointed as
an executive director of the Company on 26 April 2017.
Mr. Cheng Chak and Ms. Chan Yin Yan were appointed
as executive directors on 30 June 2017. Mr. Lo Ka Ki, Mr.
Hung Chun Leung and Mr. Chan Bing Kai were appointed
as independent non-executive directors on 7 February
2018.

Certain directors of the Company received remuneration
from the entities now comprising the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2017 for their appointment as
employees of these entities. The aggregate amounts of
remuneration received and receivable by the directors of
the Company during the years ended 31 December 2018

and 2017 are set out below.

7. ERESEEANNER

() EEHE

KAAF2017F 4 B 26 BER
SEHEFMATL - MEREME
ER2017F4 268 EEZ T A
KRB ZHITES - BRELE
NMPRFEFRZZ L2017 F 6 A30
BEZERNITES - EXRHE
dE - AEREERRERL
HR2018F2 A7THEZ T AEE
SIERITES ©

RARAIZETFEEREZ2017
F12ANBLEFEEASEER
FETERBKEREH  EAE
CEEZTAUESERREZH
B o B 2= 2018F 201712 A
BNELEFE AAFRESFEK
R EWEH Mz BemHEmT -

Year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018F12A31H L FE
Contributions
Salaries to defined
Directors' and Discretionary  contribution
fees  allowances bonus plans Total
ERMK
ESHE HeREW MERAL HE 5 @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TEx TR TR
Executive directors HITEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRI - 1,652 10,329 18 11,999
Cheng Chak Ly - 1,503 2,260 - 3,763
Chan Yin Yan BRER - 973 1,905 18 2,896
Independent non-executive B HHTEE
directors
Chan Bing Kai R 110 - - - 110
Lo Ka Ki ERE 10 - - - 10
Hung Chun Leung HER 110 - - - 110
330 4,128 14,494 36 18,988

AREEZERERATF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year e

7.

nded 31 December 2018 &£ 2018512 A31H IEFE

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (coNTINUED)

(a) Directors' remuneration (Continued)

12

Year ended 31 December 2017

Salaries
Directors’ and
fees allowances

EXHE  HEREE
HK$'000  HK$'000

7. EREEEANNER =

Q@EEFHFM

HZE2017F 12318 1LEE

Contributions

to defined
Discretionary  contribution
bonus plans Total
ERHK
WiETEAL TR @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FEr AL FEx FEL

Executive directors HiTEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRIZ MR - 1113 - 18 1,131
Cheng Chak g2 - 1,498 - - 1,498
Chan Yin Yan R - 732 - 18 750
- 3,343 - 36 3,379

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is also the chief executive officer
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above
included those for services rendered by him as the chief
executive officer.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of these
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There
was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.
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7.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (coNTINUED)

(b) Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors
There were no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the directors of the Company or their controlled
companies entered into or subsisted during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

(c) Directors' material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Saved as disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company, or an entity connected with the director,
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the year or at any time during the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017.

. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

7. EREEEANNER =

bLUEEAZTHEAZER
HERREMRS
HZE2018F K 2017F12 A31H
IHFEE - BEIUARARESRL
HBENIER R BZHEARL
RTFBEZEMER  EEZK
HtR5 -

QOEERRS > ZREREYN
EFHNEARER
BRERE SRR M EE 27 Pt 8
EON BMEARRAITLHOFA
AAREENEZEETH B
MNEBRETFEEXEEZERES
BEARGBHASBEEKBE
AWEMR S - REEREHOR
REFZHREE20184F K 20174
12 A31B I FE R E AR EF

==
=)

= ©

8. AABZEHMAL

HZE2018F K2017F12 A318 1k
FE - Az ATHS TN

™
Number of individuals
A
2018 2017
Director =) 3
Non-director FE=R 2 3
5 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (conTinuED)

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid non-
director individuals are as follows:

8. EBEmEFHFMA L

PlsxEHFMIEEE AL ZH B
(CEUNNE

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBxT FET

Salaries and allowances e KoEah 2,149 2,700
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 1,116 -
Contributions to defined contribution plans &8t ZET 24t =% 18 76
3,283 2,776

The number of these non-director individuals whose

HEMeNF T EENZEE

emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is as BEFEATAZWNOT :
follows:
2018 2017
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ - 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 8L E
1,500,000 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 8T &
2,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,008 2
2,500,00078 70 1 -
2 3

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of these highest
paid non-director individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which any of these highest
paid non-director individuals waived or has agreed to waive
any emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

9. TAXATION 9. BIE

2018 2017
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M FET FET

Current tax BN ER L 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNEH 163 2,719
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR TSN 23,356 5,458
23,519 8,177

Deferred tax IEIERIE
Changes in temporary differences iy =R EE) 10,932 (1,826)

(Benefit) Utilisation of tax losses EERBRIEEEZ (2F)

recognised ) (5,924) 4,596
23 5,008 2,770
Total income tax expenses for the year F RIS L 42%8 28,527 10,947

The Group's entities established in the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands (the "BVI") are exempted from income

tax, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the assessable profits of
a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary of the Group (as elected
by the management of the Group) is subject to the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime that the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits will be taxed at 8.25% (the “graduated tax
rate"), and assessable profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5% (the “standard tax rate”). The Hong Kong Profits Tax
of other Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries of the Group is
calculated at the standard tax rate of 16.5% of their respective
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2018 (Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2017).

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to
Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC at a statutory rate of 25%
for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

RAERELREBRELRE ([HE
BZEHS K LNAREEEED R
BRI FER

HZE2018F 12 A31HILLFE - A&
ERESFMEZAOMBE AT (A
AEEEEEEL)NERBEF
BXFEGRMBSER - BDE28
BB TR s T 1515 8.25% Bt
(TREBR])  M2EBBTULE
B FE AR B A 45 1216.5% B R ([
EBR])  c AEEBHMRB A M
B ALK B A R BB RS T Ty iR
HZE2018F 12 A3AILFEERH
AT E RS FI816.5% K IR ER
Rt E (HF2017F12A31HIFF
B & B TR B T 8 5 FE R %
FlB16.5%5+ &) -

HZE2018F R2017F12 A31B ILF
B REBRPEKINEEAER
25%AVEEMRBMTPRDEMG
i o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

9. TAXATION (conTinuED) 9. BiIE (=)

FrEBiRA < ik

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Profit before tax B A5 AT S ) 104,282 31,025
Income tax at applicable tax rate REAHRETERNER 26,956 7,968
Effect on graduated tax rate RERENZE (70) -
Non-deductible expenses AA IR A 1,554 3,077
Tax exempt revenue R = 11) m
Others Etb 98 97)
Income tax expenses for the year FRTFRFAS 28,527 10,947

ERAMEREARENERE ST
o RITHY IR AR -

The applicable tax rate is the weighted average of tax rates
prevailing in the territories in which the Group's entities
operate.

10.DIVIDENDS 10. iR &

At a meeting held on 28 March 2019, the directors
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK3.0 cents
(2017: HKENil) per ordinary share totally approximately
HK$18,600,000 (2017: HK$Nil). The proposed dividend will
be accounted for as an appropriation of reserves in the year
ending 31 December 2019 if it is approved at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The proposed final dividend has not
been recognised as dividend payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
following data:

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

n.8REF

FRERBNTEATEEAE

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit: Jw
Profit for the purpose of calculating basic ~ BLat & &R EARZF|89% F
earnings per share 75,755 20,078
‘000 ‘000
T & Fix
Number of shares: RHEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary AT EEREAREN LB
shares for the purpose of calculating basic 111 F 98k
earnings per share 591,973 465,000

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the weighted average
number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating basic
earnings per share was on the basis as if the Reorganisation
and Capitalisation Issue (defined in Note 24(c) to the
consolidated financial statements) had been effective on 1
January 2017.

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding
during years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

HE2017F 128318 LLFE © 5t
FESRERRBR L B MET
BHEDERNBRREAREALET
(BEREEMBRMEMTFE240))E
2017 F1ATHERK -

MR EZE20184 2017412 A31
HIEFEIWE\BETEINEBEEL B
IR WEREFRANEEREALR
AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

12. SUBSIDIARIES

12.

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

By 8 2 |

RBERROMBRRFBWOT

Attributable
Place of Date of Particulars of equity interest
incorporation/  incorporation/  paid up capital/  held by the Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary establishment  establishment registered capital Company place of operation
e, e, BREX/ ARARKE
HE AR AR B 3 3 B B SMEREE  HEGED TEER/LEY
Directly held by the Company
ARAEERE
Tian Chang Investments The BVI 20 April 2017 United States 100% Investment holding/Hong Kong
Limited Dollar ("US$")1
Tian Chang Investments EERLHE  2017F48208 1% 100% HEER,/ BB
Limited (T%x])
Sun Leader Holdings Limited The BVI 20 April 2017 Us$1 100% Investment holding/Hong Kong
(“Sun Leader BVI")
Sun Leader Holdings Limited ~ REBRXES 201754 A20H E 100% REER EE
(T'Sun Leader BVI])
Indirectly held by the Company
ARAIRERE
Tian Chang Holdings Limited Hong Kong 16 May 2006 HK$10,000 100% Investment holding/Hong Kong
ARERERAR 0 2006%5A16H 10,0007T 100% RELER EE
Tian Chang Industrial Limited ~ Hong Kong 13 June 2006 HK$10,000 100% Sales of e-cigarettes products
("Tian Chang HK") and providing integrated
plastic solutions/Hong Kong
AREZBRRA BB 2006%6A138 10,000%7T 100% HEEBFEEMRRH
([RREE] —BIBRAAR /B
Tian Chang Industrial The PRC®( 26 September  HK$100,000,000 100% Manufacturing and sales of
(Shenzhen) Limited* 2006 e-cigarettes products and
providing integrated plastics
solutions/The PRC
AREX(RINERAR th g 2006698268 100,000,000 100% BUERHETFEERRRH
BT O S EYe

18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

12. SUBSIDIARIES (coNTINUED) 12.fft B A 8] )
Attributable
Place of Date of Particulars of equity interest
incorporation/  incorporation/  paid up capital/  held by the Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary establishment  establishment registered capital Company place of operation
ML R BREX/ KAARE
HEAR AR B34t B B3 B SMEARFEE WEGER TEEK/CEnY
Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial ~ The PRC@™¢@ 22 March 2011 Renminbi 100% Manufacturing and sales of
Company Limited* ("RMB") e-cigarettes products and
50,000,000 providing integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC
BNTAREEER A e [ v 20M%F3A22H AR 100% BUERHET FEERRRH
([AR®]) —BlFBRAAR/HTE
50,000,0007C
Sun Leader Mould Industrial Hong Kong 27 September HK$1,000,000 100% Providing integrated plastic
Limited (“Sun Leader HK") 2000 solutions/Hong Kong
MMERAEEARAA B 200049 A27H 1,000,000 100% fRft—@LTE
([HAE(ER)]) BT BARR/ R
Sun Leader Mould Industrial The PRC®( 17 June 201 HK$56,000,000 100% Providing integrated plastic
(Shenzhen) Limited* solutions/The PRC
MAERECRINERRA  Eo® 20116 A17H 56,000,000 100% fRft—@ie
BT G EYA
Sun Leader Mould Industrial The PRC()(ii) 27 June 20M HK$80,000,000 100% Providing integrated plastic
(Huizhou) Limited* solutions/The PRC
MAEREER (BM) o o 20M%F6A278 80,000,000 100% fRft—@T%
BRATA BT BRRER
* English translation for identification purpose only.
(i) Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise. () B—FRINGBEDRE -

(ii) Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC. (i) B—RRFBENE2EDLE-

(iii) Limited liability company registered in the PRC. i)y RAABGFMHBREEAFR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

1B.Y% - BERRE

Leasehold  Furnitureand  Machinery and Motor Construction
Buildings  improvements fixtures  equipment vehicles ~ Computer i progress Total
BEY FiR

54 $E  ETEE BHRRAE HE K fRIR &3t
HES000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKFOOO  HKSO00  HKSO000
T TR T Thn Thn T Thn T

Reconciliation of cartying amount - BREZHE-8Z

year ended 31 December 2017 WIENENALEE

At the beginning ofthe reporting period ) 194,305 77986 5822 7168 904 4,294 11,616 372550
Additions HE - 10418 4384 4781 - 1893 11508 3984
Disposals & Q) () &) (8" - (137)
Transfers g2 - 3568 - - - - (3568) -
Depreciation iE (4,093) (5981) (1.409) (13419) (660) (1,041) - (26603)
Exchange realignments EiHE 9822 4203 519 413 1 20 809 19,708
At 31 December 2017 A0ERANE 200,034 90,190 9315 73067 1 5285 20365 398502

Reconciliation of carrying amount - BEEZHE-82

year ended 31 December 2018 WBENANALEE
At the beginning ofthe reporting period NEES 200,034 90,190 9315 73,067 6 5,285 20365 398502
Additions Vi 22,886 6,766 1332 85,776 3519 1234 41 138,232
Disposals it . (1476) () (6,458) . @) . (7,986)
Transfers 2 50 . - . . . (24517) .
Depreciation ik (4319) (5,309) @83 (14470) (706) (833) . (28,531)
Exchange realignments ERGER (7,159) (251 (387) (4522) (5) (159) (575) (15,384)
At 31 December 2018 A0BERA3NA 235,899 87,594 19413 133,393 3,054 5,480 484,833
At 31 December 2017 HomERANA
Cost it 2138 105,859 13691 716338 6,920 9,065 20365 583376
Accurnulated depreciation ZifME (o4 (15669) @36 (327 (6,67 (3780) - (184
200,034 90,90 9315 73067 26 5,85 20365 398,502
At 31 December 2018 20185128317

Cost i 250,918 101556 Bodl 284967 10338 9,614 683,034
Accumulated depreciation ZifE (15019 (1392 (6228)  (151574) (7,28) (4138) (198,201
235,899 87,504 19413 133393 3,054 5,480 484,833

MN2018F12 A31H » KEBRBE
BMEMESFEMNTE LW X
BB ERTE L) A95,011,000/8 7T
(20174 :32,601,000,&7T) °

At 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of the Group's
motor vehicles and machinery and equipment held under
finance leases amounted to approximately HK$95,011,000
(2017: HK$32,601,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Prepaid land lease payments represent costs paid for leasehold
lands in the PRC that are classified as operating leases with
initial lease terms of 50 years and the remaining lease terms
ranged from 43 years to 44 years as at 31 December 2018
(2017: ranged from 44 years to 45 years). The costs are
amortised over the leasehold periods.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

14.58F L HEFE

LB EREERTFESEA
KERENYRAHRASOFHEE
T AR A - B 201812 A
318 - FIRMEENF43FE445F
28 (20174 : JpF44F245F 2
[E]) o SZERANR B RE Y o

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Net carrying amount BREEE

At the beginning of the reporting period R HAY) 47,468 46,175
Amortisation B (1,154) (1,039)
Exchange realignments bE H R 2 (1,318) 2,332
At the end of the reporting period MRS EIR 44,996 47,468
Current portion BERER 5> (1,085) anz
Non-current portion JERNERER 43,911 46,351

AEEEMERERAT 2018451 121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

15.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL/AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Unlisted investments - key management FELEMIRE WO BEREUT
insurance contracts classified as: HAIMEZERBERREY
- Financial assets at FVPL — B AR EFFABEN

PREAE 26,841 -
- Available-for-sale financial assets —AtHESREE - 10,506

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is

determined by reference to the respective surrender cash value

of each insurance contract at the end of the reporting period,

which is primarily based on the performance of the underlying

investment portfolio together with the guaranteed minimum

returns, ranging from 2% to 4.8% per annum (2017: ranging

from 2% to 4.8% per annum).

The movement of the key management insurance contracts is

analysed as follows:

FTEEBRERRANNAREDZ
EREPRZRBENNERRS
BETF  DEBENEBHEELS
MERBFURREBERERNRE  8F
NF2%ZE4.8% 2 (20174 :
FENT2%E4.8%2 ) °

FEEBERREANESH TN
T

2018 2017
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FET FHET
At the beginning of R 3R HAA)
the reporting period 10,506 7,514
Additions wn 16,607 2,723
Fair value changes recognised in RIEEEERH AR EE 15(a)
profit or loss (272) -
Fair value changes recognised in A E i 2 T R aS TR RR Y
other comprehensive income NREE - 269
At the end of the reporting period R EREHI® 26,841 10,506
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL/AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (conTiNUED)

15(a) On 1 January 2018, the management assessed that the key
management insurance contracts held by the Group should
be reclassified to financial assets at FVPL upon the initial
application of HKFRS 9 and consequently the decrease in
fair value of approximately HK$272,000 was recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.

15(b) The key management insurance contracts are pledged
as collateral for the Group's bank overdraft and interest-
bearing borrowings amounting to approximately, in
aggregate, HK$24,396,000 (2017: HK$17,389,000).

15(c) Information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and
loss allowance for the above financial assets is included in
Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

BARETABENEH
EE THIEESREE
()

B@M2018F1A1H  EREF
& RYBERE B EWmE
EBIFEORR ANEBEMFHE
NEEEBEERRENEDE
EERAREFAEBEZN SR
BE  A#EZE2018F12A4
BS1RBLEFEZARBERLD L
272,0008 L E RN IBm P ER °

BOEARNEREMEITE X KET
EERERmMERANEE
TEERRBRANAENA
24,396,000,%7u(2017fﬁ:
17,389,000/ 7T) °

B BN EEEERN i mE
ENEERRNEBEEFNHE
ﬂﬁwv?éﬁﬂ%#ﬁ%l?ﬁam °

16.INVENTORIES 16. 7 &
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Raw materials R 38,019 26,299
Work-in-progress TR 12,358 11,004
Finished goods SR 35,551 17,969
85,928 55,272
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e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. B 5 R H BRI

2018 2017
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
s FExT FET
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE
From third parties EWE=T 17(a) 230,007 91,277
Loss allowance B 1E R 17(b) (4,662) -
17(c) 225,345 91,277
Bills receivables EWEE 17(d) 9,023 6,425
Other receivables H fih FE WL FRIE
Deposits s 156 195
Prepayment for suppliers AT ER FE 2,248 1,088
Prepayment for insurance IR FEA /08 3,197 2,108
Prepayment for utilities IKEBETE B 5,831 3,579
Prepayment for listing expenses TR BN RIE - 2,616
Prepaid expenses, other deposits and JAfF Y ~ Efbiz e &
other debtors H At U AR 3K 15,761 12,926
27,193 22,512
261,561 120,214

17G) Trade receivables from third parties

The Group grants credit period up to 180 days to its
customers upon the issuance of invoices.

17(b) Loss allowance
At 31 December 2018, the loss allowance of approximately
HK$4,662,000 (2017: HK$Nil) was mainly and specifically
resulted from a customer against whom the Group was in
a legal action to recover the trade debt due to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTINUED) 17.E 5 R EEWFEIE @)

7(00) B B B8 ()

17(b) Loss allowance (Continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
ECL for trade receivables prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. Trade receivables are assessed
individually for impairment losses based on historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction at the end of the reporting period, including time

value of money where appropriate.

Except for the loss allowance made, the Group rebutted
the presumption of default under ECL model for trade
receivables over 90 days past due based on good
repayment records for those customers and continuous
business with the Group. The assessment is regularly
reviewed by the management of the Group to ensure the
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
There were no changes in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions on the assessment of loss
allowance during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Before the application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018,
the Group has a policy regarding impairment losses
on trade receivables which is based on the evaluation
of collectability, ageing analysis and management's
judgement including the current creditworthiness and the
past collection history of each debtor.

N ER B R & B B e 2R R
FOWARENBLTERES
FEUWRIAR B EE B BRIEL
BB ZREAMEMBEES
FEU R IR A B B & B TR
HEREE - B EREFER
BREFEEBBERLMER
BEITERFE - EREBA
BECRE  EREEHERER
HHEHR AT LIRBE A
ZiHE (EEE R BREENE
BEEEHREE -

BREEHAEBEREEN R
ZERPHENRLERE - I
HAEEEEFEBTIR B
HAEECHBRBHEEE
BEATaHBRO0OBENES
EUWRIEBELNNRER - &%
EEEETHEMTHER
NHEREFBEBREEESAD
HEER - HE2018%12 A31
HIEFE  FHEBEBENG

R AR AR A
&) o

20181 B 1B ERE BT
MEERFOGRA - AEBE M
B 5 R IBN R EEEEE
LA AT U B 14 Bl ~ BRER D AT
EREZHE (BREREBA
B3R B {5 2K T KB WG
B BESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTINUED) 17.E 5 R EMEWFEIE @)

17(b) Loss allowance (Continued) No)EEERE @
The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables BEORBARERFR 2 BERE
during the year is summarised below. HEHHPMDT -
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period H & Hi#) = -

Increase in allowance BB IE N 4,662 -

At the end of the reporting period REREHIR 4,662 -
17(c) The ageing of trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by M)z ZAHEHDNE S ERR
invoice date is as follows: H(MKkBERE) MR W

T

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T FAET

Within 30 days 30N 175,600 53,876

31to 60 days 31£260H 40,657 27,126

61to 90 days 61£90H 6,586 2,588

91 to 180 days 91£180H 1,419 4,355

Over 180 days 180 B LA 1,083 3,332

225,345 91,277

126 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2018



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTINUED) 17.E 5 R EEWFEIE @)

17(c) The ageing of trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by MR ZHEHEHHE SRR

invoice date is as follows: (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by due date is

H (?DB?JEETE%%%)E’UEEM%QD
T

RBEHR - RIMAS DD
B S EWHRIA (MR ERREE)

as follows: RERER DT -
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Not yet due i R 2 HA 107,106 61,991

Past due: BRI -

Within 30 days 30BN 102,056 19,956
31to 60 days 31260H 13,596 3,537
61to 90 days 61290 H 1,094 921
91 to 180 days 912180 H 559 2,943
Over 180 days 180H A £ 934 1,929
118,239 29,286
225,345 91,277

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade
receivables. The Group's trade receivables which are
past due at the end of the reporting period but which
the Group has not impaired as there has not been any
significant changes in credit quality of customers and
the management believes that the amounts are fully
recoverable.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
history of default.

At 31 December 2018, amount of approximately
HK$83,000 (2017: HK$7,857,000) included in the
trade receivables were in connection with factoring
arrangements.

REBWREE P EBGRIBER
BEAMERR AEELRE
AEBRBFERRIENE S
EWHIETIRAE  REREE
FEREETRABELEERE
- BEBRERAZESEA
ZEBURE] o

R 380 B N 3f 4084 (8 2 e W R IR
HAMREZ2EPER  KE
I ST B R GO 8% o

M20184F12 A31H » #983,000
BT (20174 :7,857,000%
JT)ME 5 EWEUR & FE LR IE
ZHBH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTiNUED)

128

17(d) Bills receivables

The bills receivables are interest-free, guaranteed by banks
in the PRC and Hong Kong and have maturities of less than

six months.

18.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

1 EWRE

EREERE
MERTTHER B X/ B A REH] -

17.E 5 R H BRI ()

R ENES

18.EZ R EMEN TR

2018 2017
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FHET FET
Trade payables B S EMARE
To third parties ENE=F 18(a) 177,268 82,353
Other payables H{th BT FRIE
Contract liabilities (Note) EH8E (M) 7,203 792
Salaries payable AN R 43,016 14,370
Other accruals and other creditors ~ EffEFTER &
At JE AR X 25,367 17,026
75,586 32,188
252,854 114,541
Note: The Group applies the practical expedient and does not disclose i NEFEERYSERNEREZET M

information about remaining performance obligations that have
original expected durations of one year or less.

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and

decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract liabilities

with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

WA BRBHHR A —F A
THSHRTEHONER

A BRI RS R B 155
REANAEED (T RERFNE
BRORA P B A KRB IS

HK$'000

FET

At 1 January 2018 2018F1H1H 792
Recognised as revenue R AR (792)
Receipt in advance TEUWR SR TE 7,203
At 31 December 2018 2018412 A31H 7,203
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

18.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTiNUED) 18.E 5 R B FE{F FRIH (&)
18 E 5 FEFKIE
RIS » = A HIBID
2SR RIBENER AT T

18(2) Trade payables
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Within 30 days 30HA 69,902 25,170
31to 60 days 31260H 87,333 27,118
61to 90 days 61290 H 10,706 10,923
Over 90 days 90H M F 9,327 19,142
177,268 82,353

The credit period on trade payables is up to 90 days. B 5 FE T R IE A1 B #B18

90H -
19.BANK OVERDRAFTS 19.8R1TEX

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Bank overdrafts, secured BEBRITES - 1,024

The secured bank overdrafts are interest-bearing at prime rate
or 1% per annum over the prime rate (2017: at prime rate or 1%
per annum over the prime rate).

At 31 December 2018, the bank overdrafts (if any) and
together with the interest-bearing borrowings are secured by
the key management insurance contracts with fair value of
approximately HK$26,841,000 (2017: HK$10,506,000), as set
out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

The collaterals and guarantees provided on the bank overdrafts
by the Ultimate Controlling Party and/or his close family
members, other directors, and a former related company at 31
December 2017 were released during the year and replaced by
a corporate guarantee given by the Company.

BEERBRTESREEERN RS &
BEIERIMBHEFR KRB (2017
F: IERERFIFLRERFIFEM
19 H)FFE) o

MN2018F12H318 @ RITEX
(MB)ERFEBRIIBAAR
E#926,841,0008 7 (20174 :
10,506,000 T )MEEEEAE
REBEH (HNERE T EHREM T
15) 3 -

HERIERT &S EBEZERER
B -HMEBEZER—MEAEBLRR
2017 F12 A3 BIREIRTE MK
@R ERENFRNERITAHARD
AR ERER TGS -
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e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

20.,PAYABLES FOR CONSTRUCTION IN

20 ENEEZIREFNE

PROGRESS
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current portion RENER D 11,927 28,176
Non-current portion ERENE 11,827 -
23,754 28,176

Payables for construction in progress represent the amounts
payable to the constructors in respect of the construction of
the production plants located in the PRC which the payment
terms are unsecured, interest-free and repayable from one
to four years since its inception. The amounts represent the
present value of the invoiced amounts at effective interest
rate ranged from 4.75% to 6.15% at 31 December 2018 (2017:

6.15%).

EMERERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

21.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 21.iTE B
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET

Secured bank borrowings: BEMEBITER

Current portion TRENEL S 125,627 172,416
Non-current portion EREE D 22,969 20,097
148,596 192,513

The secured bank borrowings are wholly repayable within five
years since its inception. At 31 December 2018, the secured
bank borrowings carried weighted average effective interest
rate of approximately 4.40% (2017: 4.49 %) per annum.

The collaterals and guarantees provided on the interest-
bearing borrowings by the Ultimate Controlling Party and/or
his close family members, other directors, and a former related
company at 31 December 2017 were released during the year
and replaced by a corporate guarantee given by the Company.

Additionally, at 31 December 2018, the bank borrowings are
secured by:

(i) buildings and the prepaid land lease payments with aggregate
net carrying amount of approximately HK$280,895,000
(2017: HK$247,502,000), as set out in Note 13 and Note 14
to the consolidated financial statements;

(ii) key management insurance contracts with fair value of
approximately HK$26,841,000 (2017: HK$10,506,000), as
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements;

(iii) trade receivables in connection with factoring arrangement
of approximately HK$83,000 (2017: HK$7,857,000),
as set out in Note 17(c) to the consolidated financial
statements; and/or

(iv) certain machinery and equipment with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$1,749,000 (2017:
HK$2,101,000).

EERBRTEXRERBREARAFR
2 EEE - N2018F12A318 - &
AR IRIT I T N 5 BB F F
RINA.40%(20174F ©4.49%) o

HEKERT & SEBEZRER
B HEtmEEN—MERBEHARR
201712 A31 AR B ERWIE
HREERERNFRERITAARRD
AR ERERTASR -

AN - FRA20184E12 A31H » R1THE
KTV T &I

() R M E F 8 & # 4
280,895,000 L (20174 -
247,502,000/ L) IEF KB
LA E B (AR E B 5 3R
RT3 BT 14T

(i) AR E#H26,841,000E T
(20174 :10,506,000% 7T ) HY
FEEBABRBELH (WERE
B AR R MITEI5FTE)

(iiD#83,000&8 L (2017 4F
7,857,000 L) BRI LHEA
AR E 5 EUGRIA (4R G BT TS
HEMF17COME) - &K

(iv) BRENFEAS 491,749,000 7T
(20174 : 2,101,000& 7T ) %
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e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

22, OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group leased certain
motor vehicles and machinery and equipment under finance
leases. The lease term is ranging from 36 to 48 months (2077:
ranging from 36 to 48 months). At 31 December 2018, the
weighted average effective interest rate of the obligations
under finance leases of the Group was 3.39% (2017: 3.29%).

22, MERERIE

RFEKR  AEERERERE
M E T /A58 R &% - T
NF362481E A 2 (20174F - 71
F3624818H 2 F)  KR2018412
A318  AEBEmMEREREDN
EFHEBRFEE3.39%(20174F -
3.29%) o

Present value of

Minimum lease

minimum lease

payments payments
BRIEHAESTR BREAESTRNRE
2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT F&ET FET
Amounts payable: FERTFRIE -
Within one year —FLR 24,472 11,625 22,415 11,101
In the second to fifth years FE_EFRF
inclusive (BEEEME) 45,133 9,769 42,879 9,567
69,605 21,394 65,294 20,668
Future finance charges REBEFRZ (4,311) (726)
Present value of lease obligations & &ERIRE 65,294 20,668
Less: Amounts due for o ERtTZEARNEE
settlement within 12 months HIFRIE (22,415) (11,701)
Amounts due for settlement after [ERA+ 18 A& EEHN
12 months I 42,879 9,567

The Group's obligations under finance leases are secured by
the lessors' charge over the leased assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

23. DEFERRED TAXATION 23, IEAE R IE

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 2,818 2,179
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEEE (15,567) (10,503)
Net deferred tax position FEIER IR FRBAR R (12,749) (8,324)

The movements in the Group's net position of deferred tax are

AR BRI R A FEROR BB I

as follows: T
Timing
differences
on income
and expenses
(including
depreciation)
Tax losses recognised Total
EERKA
BRI
BREEE
HiEEE (BERE) #ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHET
At 1 January 2017 20171 H1H 6,625 (1,701 (5,076)
Income tax (expenses) credit Fris®l (A2 #E e (4,596) 1,826 (2,770)
Exchange difference ME R ZE5E 213 (691) (478)
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) BERBEEE (BEF) 2,242 (10,566) (8,324)
Offsetting 35 (63) 63 -
At 31 December 2017 2017412 A31H8 2,179 (10,503) (8,324)
At 1January 2018 2018 1A18 2,242 (10,566) (8,324)
Income tax credit (expenses) Fris®iEe () 5,924 (10,932) (5,008)
Exchange difference EHER (233) 816 583
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) EEHBEEE (ABE) 7,933 (20,682) (12,749)
Offsetting 35 (5,115) 5,115 -
At 31 December 2018 #"2018F12A31H 2,818 (15,567) (12,749)
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

23. DEFERRED TAXATION (conTinueD) 23, IEERLIE ()

The tax losses reflected in above deferred tax assets arising at
the end of each reporting period which can be offset against
future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries, subsequent
to the commencement of production by the Group's production
plant in Huizhou, Guangdong province, the PRC, will expire as

EASEEEPEEREZMMOER
EMFAREER - DURENAE
EfRENNERERRELNA
BT B 72 ) R 2R FE AR 50 AV 4K 3
HIB IR B RS O AT B EARIER -

follows:

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET

Year of expiry BHAF
2021 20214 5,331 5,488
2022 20224 3,231 3,326
2023 20234 19,689 -
28,251 8,814
No expiry mEE A 5,280 238
33,531 9,052

At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payables on the unremitted
earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC (2017: HK$Nil). In the opinion of the management, it
is probable that the earnings will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future. The estimated withholding tax effects on
the distribution of accumulated profits were approximately
HK$13,337,000 (2017: HK$8,952,000).
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, [R A
2018 2017
No. of No. of
shares shares
REE !
Note '000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
(i T THER Tk THET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREE.ETHEBER
At the beginning of the reporting R

period 3,900 390 N/A N/A
At date of incorporation - iNEanAA=RRS 24(a)

26 April 2017 2017F4 A26H - - 3,900 390
Increase on 8 February 2018 201852 A8 BN 24(b) 1,996,100 199,610 - -
At the end of the reporting period A3 #iK 2,000,000 200,000 3,900 390

Issued and fully paid: ERTRAE
Ordinary shares of HK$0. each HREEOETHEER
At the beginning of the reporting R REEI

period 3 =* - -
At date of incorporation - REfK S B E - 24(a)

26 April 2017 20174 A 26H - - 3 -
Issue of shares pursuant to BERENMCETER 24(c)

the Capitalisation Issue P17 464,997 46,500 - -
Issue of shares pursuant to REZHREERIRGD  24d)

Global Offering 155,000 15,500 - -
At the end of the reporting period ~ FA¥R & HIK 620,000 62,000 3 -

*

less than HK$1,000

*

AREEERERAT 2018FFH

L1A1,0008 7T
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

24. SHARE CAPITAL (conTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

136

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 26 April
2017. Upon its incorporation, the authorised share capital
of HK$390,000 was divided into 3,900,000 ordinary
shares at HK$0.1 each and 3,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each were issued to and paid up by the Ultimate
Controlling Party.

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company's shareholders
passed on 8 February 2018, inter-alia, the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$390,000 to HK$200,000,000 by the creation of an
additional 1,996,100,000 shares of HK$0.1 each and the
Capitalisation Issue (as defined below) was conditionally
approved.

On 8 March 2018, the Company issued a total of
464,997,000 shares of HK$0.1 each to the shareholders
appeared on the shareholders’ register on 13 February
2018, credited as fully paid at par by way of capitalisation
of the sum of HK$46,499,700 standing to be credit
of the share premium account of the Company (“the
Capitalisation Issue”) and the shares issued carry the
same rights as all shares in issue.

On 8 March 2018, the Company issued a total of
155,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at
HK$0.71 per share by way of global offering (the “Global
Offering”) and the shares issued carry the same rights as
all shares in issue. The expenses attributable to issue of
shares pursuant to the Global Offering of approximately
HK$13,847,000 were recognised in the share premium
account of the Company. On the same date, the
Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. RESERVES

25(a)Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company's shares over its par value.
Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company's
Articles of Association, it is distributable to the Company's
shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

25(b)Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the waiver of the amount
due from the Group granted by the Ultimate Controlling
Party in prior years and the aggregate amount of the
nominal value of the issued/registered capital of the
entities now comprising the Group less consideration paid
to acquire the relevant interests (if any).

25(c)Statutory reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
enterprises incorporated/established in the PRC, the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are required to maintain
certain statutory reserves. The statutory reserve can be
used to make up for losses, expand the existing operation
and convert to additional capital.

25(d)Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of foreign
operations for consolidation.

25(e)Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the cumulative net
changes in the fair value of the unlisted investments in key
management insurance contracts classified as available-
for-sale financial assets held in prior periods.

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018,
the accumulated revaluation reserve of approximately
HK$801,000 were reclassified to accumulated profits.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

25, f#1%

255(a)

R A8

Bin i@ EBRETARRRBDE
SZHBFAFRBEAEEE
ZEE - RERASHEEIR
AAREBERM@ADN  ZF2
BA DK TARFIR - AR
RARFRABRENXINATE
5B B HEN 2 575 -

50) EAREE

25(c)

BEXAHBERBEFEHRRZR
ZEROT 1% B R MR £R [ 5R
B LREREKASECZE
BHC BT/ EAMERANERR
RERI IR RS e LE (0
) -

EEE
REMBAFARE N T EE
ML B2 R ERRTE
7R SR B R B ) B /B 2 BB AR
FaETAERE EZERER
AREHER BARELS
MBI RRIMNRAR

5 BRERE

25(e)

AREEERERAT 2018FFH

BEREBEEREAHFBRERI
REFEENMBINEEZSE

Bfhf#E

1 18 0B R AT I
DERRTRNECHEENE
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R2018F1 A 1B RERES
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Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

26. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 26 REMBEL
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Profit before tax B B A A 104,282 31,025
Amortisation of prepaid land lease FEAT - Mo TH & TR 8
payments 1,154 1,039
Expected credit loss allowance of trade E S RINEIATEHEEEE
receivables B g 4,662 -
Depreciation B 28,531 26,603
Interest income B A 47) (36)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL  Z AR BT ABZNEMEE
NRlEEE 272 -
Finance costs B TSR A 12,027 13,525
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BENMKEESR
equipment 4,155 137
Exchange differences PE X =58 8,624 2,166
Changes in working capital: EBEECED)
Inventories w8 (32,175) 10,309
Trade and other receivables E 5 M H MW FIE (149,367) (4,053)
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H M IR 142,515 20,224
Cash generated from operations KESRSE 124,633 100,939
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere

in the consolidated financial statements, during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, further information of the
related party transactions is set out below.

(a) Transactions between the group entities have been

eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed. During
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group
had the following significant transactions with related

parties.

2. B AR 5

BrARA T MR S F AT ER
R5 /BRI HZE2018F K& 2017
FNANBLEFE  BEBB IR
SHE— S EREHNIT -

(@) SEEBRANRZEREHE
HIHAW AR - BLE20184F
201712 A31HIEFE » &
SEEPHFEUTEARS -

Related party 2018 2017
relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
o) L REME THET FAET
Companies controlled  Purchase of property, plant and equipment (i) 1,023 -
by the Ultimate BEME - WEREED
Controlling Party Rental expenses (ii) 540 540
HREERTEGIE  EERZG)
NG Sale of goods (iii) - 249
& B (i)
Sub-contracting costs (iv) - 1,079
DB (iv)
Rental and utilities recharge income (v) - 360
HeMKEEBRBWRAW
Management service income (vi) - 45
BIEIRIEWA (Vi)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

140

O]

(i

(iii)

@iv)

(%)

(vi)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group purchased
motor vehicles from CDN Holdings Limited ("CDN Holdings").
Such purchase has been recognised in the additions of the
Group's property, plant and equipment.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, rental
expenses represented operating lease payments on premises
charged by CDN Holdings to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group sold plastic
products to Fast Precision Mould (Huizhou) Limited* (“Fast
Precision Huizhou"), English translation of f#FRMEZE B (&
JN)AEBR/AF]. Such sales have been recognised as the Group's
revenue in profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Fast Precision
Huizhou* provided sub-contracting services to the Group for the
manufacturing of moulds. Such services have been recognised as
the Group's cost of goods sold in profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group leased out
a portion of its production plants in the PRC to Fast Precision
Huizhou*. Such rental income has been recognised as the Group's
other income in profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group rendered
management service to Fast Precision Mould Limited* (“Fast
Precision”). Such service income has been recognised as the
Group's other income in profit or loss.

Fast Precision and Fast Precision Huizhou ceased to be related
companies of the Group on 29 March 2017
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(i

(i)

(iv)

)

(vi)

HE2018F12A3NBILFE - AER
MR BER AR (SRR
BAHE  ZEHETEERAEENY
¥ BERBEHEARE TR -

HE2018F K2017F12 A31H L4
E - HeRIENSERGRTFAE
BRI ELEEHENK -

HZE2017F12A3MHILFE - AEH
ERR RS ZE A (EN) AR AT ([
ERZEMEEBRRS - %%
HEBDNIBRAERAREEH K

N2
=< o

B

HZE2017F12A3NBILFE - HEE
ZEMpE AR SR AREEIRESD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 21. A AR B s

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel (including b)) REFHEEB 45@/\,\ (BEE
directors) of the Group: E)WEB -
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e Mk 8,184 6,328
Discretionary bonus E’J’F?EZI 16,127 -
Contributions to defined contribution  EZEHFURAGHEIHR
retirement schemes 110 110
24,421 6,438
Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in EEHMAE P BEIHRER
Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. éﬂﬁ‘%#ﬁ%ﬁﬁa£7 °

28. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASHFLOWS 28. BB & HREZHMER

(a) Major non-cash transactions Q@EEFAERS
The followings set out the major non-cash transactions TXEHIIAFENEEIFRS
during the year: R -
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the HE2018F12 A31ALEFE -
Group incurred additional payables of approximately TEERAEME - BEKERK
HK$34,132,000 (2017: HK$10,586,000) to constructors WELRINENEIABRIA
for the addition of property, plant and equipment. #934,132,0008 70 (20174 -

10,586,000 7T) °

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group HZE2018F12A31BILEFE -
entered into finance lease arrangements in respect of AEBZE T IUEREMRFZ
certain motor vehicles and machinery and equipment B UMERELRY - HEH
with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of W48 & R{B{E#4)56,820,000/8
approximately HK$56,820,000 (2017: HK$4,932,000). 7T (20174 4,932,000/ 7T) °
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group HZE2018F 12 3B LEFE -
incurred imputed interest expenses in respect of the AEERENERZIERIBE
payables for construction in progress of approximately A B FEET R B 52 491,150,000
HK$1,150,000 (2017: HK$1,496,000), which were not BT (20174 :1,496,000%
settled and were credited to the payables for construction L) ZEMBEIEEE WL
in progress. FTAERTERTIZERIA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

28, ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH

FLOWS (conTINUED)

(b)Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The movements in the Group's liabilities arising from

financing activities are as follows:

28. ERARERECHMER @)

b BEZBMELERENY
iR
AEERAEHAELREN
HET

Non-cash changes

FREEH
At Imputed Foreign At
1January Net interest  exchange 31December
2018 cashflow  Addition expenses movement 2018
R2018% HERE FEH RIS R2018F
1A1H B nE Bx HES® 128318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tz TER TR TR TR
Year ended 31 December 2018~ #Z2018412 314
IHEE
Payables for construction in ERERIRFER
progress 28,176 (39,286) 34,132 1,150 (418) 23,754
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEER 192,513  (41,762) - - (2155) 148,596
Obligations under finance leases &% 7 & #1E 20,668 (12,194) 56,820 - - 65,294
241,357  (93,242) 90,952 1,150 (2,573) 237,644
Non-cash changes
e
At Imputed Foreign At
1 January Net interest  exchange 31 December
2017 cashflow  Addition  expenses movement 2017
R2077E  Beng JEETHE, 201746
1A1H FE wE Fx HNEZ 12A318
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx TR TAET THT THT THT
Year ended 31 December 2017 EZ2017%F12 A31H
IHFE
Payables for construction in ENERIRENA
progress 43,426 (27,595) 10,586 1,496 263 28,176
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEER 174,575 15,107 - - 2,831 192,513
Obligations under finance leases &% 7 & &1E 27,049 (M,313) 4,932 - - 20,668
Loans from the Ultimate REFEERFNER
Controlling Party 28,598 (29,866) - - 1,268 -
273,648 (53,667) 15,518 1,496 4362 241,357
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of
financial assets at FVPL, bank overdrafts, interest-bearing
borrowings, payables for construction in progress, obligations
under finance leases and bank balances and cash. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain
finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial instruments such as trade and other receivables
and trade and other payables, which arise directly from its
business activities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are market risk (including price risk, interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group does not have any written risk management policies
and guidelines. However, the management generally adopts
conservative strategies on its risk management and limits the
Group's exposure to these risks to a minimum level as follows:

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from its unlisted
investments in key management insurance contracts which
are classified as financial assets at FVPL. The fair value of the
unlisted investments will fluctuate, subject to the returns which
are at the discretion of the issuer of the investments. Such
contracts have minimum guaranteed returns during the holding
period. Management is of the opinion that the price risk arising
from the contracts is not significant.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's obligations under finance
leases, interest-bearing borrowings and bank overdrafts of
approximately HK$176,235,000 (2017: HK$196,521,000)
with floating interest rate. The Group currently does not
have a policy to hedge against the interest rate risk as the
management does not expect any significant interest rate risk
at the end of the reporting period.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

29. M EREEEERBER

AEENTESRITABERLAA
B ABRGZNEREE  R1TE
X RFEER - BNERZIRER
R BEHERERRITEHRLR
T o ZETRMIANTIZANDE
SRR AKEZERTELR - K
SEEEZEAMERTA  WE
BERBEXRBADNEZ MEME
WORTARNE 5 B Eo At FE A5 5R0R

AREORIANTERRTS
BR (BERERR  FIEARE
SMEER)  BEARREBLA
% AEEYEEAEERREE
B RIEE - AT ERERER
HARE B RIURTH - WA
Y % S AR A O S E R IE K
F o RENT

B ERR
AEERERETEEREASR
BREWFLTERE (D BEAR
Bf ABamEeREE)NERA
@ FLTHRENQABHEFO
H(HREHITAZRRE) MK
B ZFANORFEHHERRE
REWE - BEIEERS  AHNE
RERILAERX -

FI = 2 B
REEEBRHFEEEHMHERE
ZRAEENMERERE 8
BRERBRITESZ (HRFBF XRE
B)#9176,235,000/8 7T (20174 -
196,521,000 L) B - REEH
AT SR R A R R - REAR
EREEANRE AR FEEMA
BEARMERRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2.0 EEKMEEEERKE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rate has been 100
basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's pre-tax results would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$1,762,000 (2017: HK$1,965,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rate had occurred throughout the
year and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for the closing balance of the obligations under finance leases,
interest-bearing borrowings and bank overdrafts in existence at
the end of the reporting period. The stated changes represent
management’'s assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the year.

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk because the
exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the
exposure during the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Foreign currency risk
The Group's transactions are mainly denominated in HK$, US$
and RMB.

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the respective group entities and therefore exposed to
foreign currency risk. The carrying amounts of those financial
assets and liabilities are analysed as follows:

Financial assets

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

9. KEBEREBERBE

(#)

N LR
ARBMAORHEBNBT - ETR
ARMEHE -

AEENETEREENERAR
NEEREEBNEEBEAINNER
FHE - HitERINERER - ZF 2
BMEERBENREEINNOT

Financial liabilities

TREE tREE
2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&IT FHT FHETT
HK$ BT 1,432 1,778 2,390 899
us$ =7t 183,386 66,229 174,610 68,731
RMB AR 136 39 - -

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group's pre-tax results if exchange rates of HK$, US$ and RMB
had changed against the functional currencies of the respective
group entities by 5% and all other variables were held constant
at the end of the reporting period.

TREBINEREMRET XM
ARBHESEERNEEEE
BN BEFMEEMBEERTREN
BRTARBEERHRARENHOE
) o

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FET

HK$ BT 452 44
us$ ETT 439 125
RMB AR 7 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2.0 EEKMEEEERKE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the changes in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to the Group's
exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in existence
at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest

rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’'s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the
year until the end of the next reporting period.

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk because
the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect

the exposure during the reporting period.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that debtors will default on their
obligations to repay the amounts due to the Group, resulting
in a loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is mainly
attributable to trade and other receivables and bank balances
and cash. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by
selecting the counterparties with reference to their past credit
history and/or market reputation. The Group's maximum
exposure to the credit risk is summarised as follows:

(#)

ShERER (@)
R AT T A R SR O 2 2 B
PR ERREERCEARAEE
TEGFENSR T ANEEER K
O BFAEmEE (RIEFE)RE
BERETE °

PREBEEREEAEEEET
3 -

EEERR  SURERMEDTTIRKRE
BINEEERR - ARRBEHRR
FY R C 3 A 2 B 3R 5 B el O o

EERR
FERBREEHAKERKEFER
ENAKBERAZ ZHMEHAE
EXRZEENER - AEENEER
[\ £ BRI E 5 M H U RR
FRITHB LIRS - AEBRBS
ZREEERCEN, M58 B
BEEHREZEEERR - AEE
HRAEERBRE DGR AT

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TAT

Financial assets at FVPL/Available-for-sale & AR EFFABZRAE R
BE/THEESSHMEE 26,841 10,506

financial assets

Trade and other receivables B 5 N H M EIWERIA 252,534 113,439
Bank balances and cash RITEH AR 61,414 19,591
340,789 143,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

2.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2. EKMEEEERKE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group trades with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures.

The management considers the credit risk in respect of
financial assets at FVPL/available-for-sale financial assets and
bank balances and cash is minimal because the counter-parties
are authorised financial institution with high credit ratings.
The management considers the credit risk in respect of other
receivables is minimal given the historical record of subsequent
settlement and/or utilisation.

The Group's exposure to credit risk at trade receivables is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. Credit quality of a customer is assessed based on an
individual credit rating assessment which is mainly based on
the Group's own trading records.

The Group customer base consists of a wide range of clients
and the trade receivables are categorised by common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL for trade receivables and recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at the end of the reporting
period, based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had a concentration of
credit risk as approximately 41.1% (2017: 18.1%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’'s largest trade
debtor, and approximately 85.5% (2017: 69.2%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's five largest trade
debtors.

(#)

FEERK @
AEBHEZRAANEEEEZENE=
FRS o REBMMKE G RE
NWEEBRSNEFRHAEETEE
ZERRF °

EEERR  BRARAAERAR
HENEREE MIREESHEE
URRITHESRERENEERR K
K RERXZHSHEEBEFHR
SRERESREE  ENRES
BR/RBANBELE  EEE
RAEABEMCEEFIENEERR

&K -

AEBEYHE S RBUGENEER
Rk X 2ZEEPOERRKIER
PR E - EFMERERHERE
MEESFMEETHE - &R
TRENAEENB FRXH0Ek

AEBZPEARHRBRZ 2EP
B B S ERGIEE LR 6 ER
FEGETTO B - ZEARBFEBRERE
PREA KRR A B HI50R
FIRES) - NEBER LT AR E
ZREVGIARF ERMEEERE - R
BERHmERARBEEFERNESRE
EFBMEBEEREERKERER
EEREE  UMEFSABB AR
MERRREBERIREHAE

M2018F12 A31H » AEEBEM{E
ERREYS  REZ841.1%(2017
F :18.1%)ME FEWFIELTETY
ERAEBERNE SHEEAHRK
1B+ B#185.5% (20174 :69.2%)
MBS EKFIERRE ERAEE
AREZEBARFIEA ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility. The Group has no specific
policy for managing its liquidity. The undiscounted contractual
maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period, based on contractual undiscounted

9. KEEEREBERBE

(#)

BN ELER

AEENERDERRERE LS
BAMZENFE o NEEYE
FRIBREBHERE M - RIREH
R AEBEBERAKARBERNTKE
TR BEARRE SO AR R

payments, is summarised below: N
Total
Total  contractual  Less than
carrying undiscounted 1year or
amount cashflow ondemand 1-2years 2-5years
BHARERE 1EUTH
REEAE REIRELE REREE 1226  235F
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THEL TR TR TET TET
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENFIA 252,854 252,854 252,854 - -
Obligations under finance leases AT EAE 65,294 69,605 24,472 18,680 26,453
Interest-bearing borrowings (i) AREROD 148,596 149,864 126,893 2297 -
Payables for construction JERER TSR
in progress 23,754 25,368 12,1M 6,655 6,602
490,498 497,691 416,330 48,306 33,055
At 31 December 2017 2017612 318
Trade and other payables BSREMERTE 114,541 114,541 114,541 - -
Bank overdrafts RITEX 1,024 1,024 1,024 - -
Obligations under finance leases BB E A 20,668 21,394 11,625 7918 1,851
Interest-bearing borrowings (i) STEEROD 192,513 193,256 172,416 20,840 -
Payables for construction ERERIRZE
in progress 28,176 29,993 29,993 - -
356,922 360,208 329,599 28,758 1,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Liquidity risk (continued)

@

The amounts repayable under certain bank loan agreements that
include a clause that gives the banks unconditional rights to call the
loans at any time are classified under the category of “Less than 1
year or on demand”. However, the management does not expect that
the banks would exercise such rights to demand repayment and thus
these borrowings, which include the related interest, would be repaid
according to the above schedule as set out in the loan agreements.

9.MBEREERE
(0

T B )

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

ZREEK

ETROESFGR (BF-BETR
ﬂ@fhﬂﬂl@%ﬂﬂ’)ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂE’\M@E

FOBETEEENSFRIDRNEAT
IT&%IE%’;JJ@EE‘J o AT - EREfETR
HISRIT TR ITEZ SRMNE A IE
o Bt - ZFER (BEAEMNE)
AR E R I P L RS R (88 -

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Less than 1 year or on demand TFA TSR ERER 107,412 145,531
1-2 years 1224 33,170 37,238
2-5 years 2&5%F 10,481 15,254
Over 5 years SEPA 2,047 272
153,110 198,295
4N A —1
30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 30. A AELH B

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured

at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in the

consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis across

the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS

13 "Fair Value Measurement” with the fair value measurement

categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that

is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs

are defined as follows:

Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group
can access at the measurement date;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly;

Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

N

L/(Tﬂiﬁzzi?/%ﬁﬂ“# EFERIFI35R

AREHAEBIFREZAABEZE

FRANZINARAREFEHBLZEE
EENGEMBBRRBREAAELZ
EF&EE MAREFEDER

HEBIASBEEATE ZHKELR

%A%ﬁ#%%%ﬁ AR E
MATFWLT

F-ER(&SEH)  NEEE
:HrEEIT% SHHEREESRAE
HIRETIS 2 RE CREAE)

F_EBHR - BRE-ARNAER
Z#Iﬂ Ao BEESBENE
EREERABR 2B ARE

F=B&R(ZEL)  BEX
Effz AR ARIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A M RAR R

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conNTINUED) 30. &

a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value a)

150

2018 2017
Level 3 Level 3
EZER EZER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Assets measured at fair value UAREGFENEE
Financial assets at FVPL/ BARE AR R
Available-for-sale financial assets BE/THIEemEE
- Unlisted investments - key —JEEMKE-FEER
management insurance contracts ANERBRE L (HaF15)
(Note 15) 26,841 10,506

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, there

were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value

measurements, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair

value measurements.

HZE2018F K&2017F12 A31H
HFEE EF—EHREF_ER
ANREAEzZETEEE B
EZEBRAARBEELELH
B Ak EE o

Total unrealised loss included in
profit or loss

FHARIAREIRERAE

Total unrealised gain included in

other comprehensive income

AR R EREHRER
Yz 0

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TAT
(272) -

- 269

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts

is determined by reference to the surrender cash value,

which is primarily based on the performance of the

underlying investment portfolio, reported by the bank on a

regular basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conNTINUED)

b) Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure,
but not measured at fair value
All other financial assets and liabilities including trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables, bank balances,
bank overdrafts, interest-bearing borrowings, payables
for construction in progress and obligations under finance
leases are carried at amounts not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

31. COMMITMENTS

Commitments under operating leases

The Group as lessee

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases, which typically runs an initial lease period of three
years (2017: one to five years). None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases, which are payable as follows:

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

AREFE W

b) HEAABERUAAE
FENEERAE
FIEHMemEERBE (BE
EoREMEKRZE BHK
HhEAIE - RITE - R
TEX  FHEER EBHER
TREFIBERMEEEAE)H
H120184F K 2017912 A31HA
AEVESREENSREE -

317K IE

REHERE
REBEEREBA
AEERBEEHEHRAZRY
X MBS -RS=F (2017
F:—FLF) ZFEHERTE

R|EHAR - REER A HEL
SHERTHARRKEHRENK
(RN IR @RI T

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Within one year 1F AR 20 6,069
In the second to fifth years inclusive F2EB5F (BEEEMSF) - 5,357
20 1,426

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group mutually
agreed with a landlord to early terminate operating leases with
outstanding commitments of approximately HK$10,409,000
(2017: HKgNil) without any penalty charged.

HZE2018F12A31BHEFE - K
SEHE-ZEIHEEHTRALLL
M A AREEAEL10,409,000%
TL (20174 - TEIT) 2 (K EHE &
g - MBARBEEASIFK

IIF

AEEEMERERAT 2018451 151



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

31. COMMITMENTS (ConTinueD) 317 HE ()
Capital expenditure commitments BRI AE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contracted but not provided net of deposits FEIEE T X MHEIT 5] 4118
paid for construction in progress REBEEE (FIkiZe) = 53,570

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments, including payment
of dividend to equity owners, call for additional capital from
equity owners or sale of assets to reduce debts. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

33. 2" B By B # AR R 3R

THE COMPANY
2018 2017
Note HK$ HK$
M BT BT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KEWEB AT 16 16
Current assets REBEE
Due from the subsidiaries YR B A Bl R IE 33(a) 117,745,962 -
Other receivables Hth pE U IR 145,300 300
Bank balances RITER 2,426,063 -
120,317,325 300
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables HAth fET 3R 365,672 16
Net current assets RBEEFE 119,951,653 284
NET ASSETS EERE 119,951,669 300
Capital and reserves BEARR#E
Share capital [N 33(b) 62,000,000 300
Reserves G 33(b) 57,951,669 -
TOTAL EQUITY R 119,951,669 300

The statement of financial position was approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March

2019 and signed on its behalf by

CHAN Tsan Lam
PR AR K
Director

EE

BN RN 2019F3 A28 A EEES
PERKETEIBAUATEERRE T

CHENG Chak

B

Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # £2018F12 A31H I FE

33.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

33(2)Due from the subsidiaries
The amounts due are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. No provision has
been made for non-repayment of the amounts due during
year ended 31 December 2018.

Details of the amounts due from the subsidiaries are as

33. AR T MBI BEAMR R T @)

33() FEUR B B A R IE

EWFEBIIEESHE - HEK
B BEEREREE -BZE
2018F 12 A31BILFE - AEEW
RE R EENREYGIEFHREE -

FEU KB R R IBRFFIFN T ¢

follows:
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Tian Chang HK XK (HF) 87,745,962 -
Sun Leader HK FrFE (B5) 5,000,000 -
Sun Leader BVI Sun Leader BVI 25,000,000
117,745,962 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2018 # E2018F12 A31H L F/E

33. AR AR BT BEAMR R T @)

33()Movement of share capital and reserves ) BRA R A2 B
Share Share Accumulated
capital premium profits Total
[ R EE 25 ER st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
(Note 25(a))
(Ffi£25(a))
At date of incorporation, at 31 December ~ R &EfRAC I HE
2017 and 1January 2018 R2017F12 A31B &
20181 A1H 300 - - 300
Loss and total comprehensive income for  FREE K 2 EWNHEE
the year - - 23,748,709 23,748,709
Transactions with owners HEBAETHRS
Contribution and distributions BRI R
Issue of shares pursuant to the Global BEEHEEETRN
Offering (Note 24(d)) (iEF24(d)) 15,500,000 94,550,000 - 110,050,000
Issue of shares pursuant to the REBEE MM EITEITRGD
Capitalisation Issue (Note 24(c)) (Hi7t24(c)) 46,499,700 (46,499,700) - -
Transaction costs attributable to issue of ~ ZE1TR D TEIA R SR AR
shares (Note 24(d)) (Hii224(d)) - (13,847,340) - (13,847,340)
Total transactions with owners BEEEENETTHRFEE 61,999,700 34,202,960 - 96,202,660
At 31 December 2018 H2018F12A31H 62,000,000 34,202,960 23,748,709 119,951,669

Certain administrative and other operating expenses were
borne by the subsidiary of the Company without recharge.

AR BB QR AESE T1T
BEEMEZERY - ETHR

AL =

AN
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
I B aa

ISR B AT - BiE2017F12 A31H
IFFENFREEELETORBRERD
KERZEEUBHRE  AEBERBLR
ESBREENEBAREEN B EHF

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report, the annual

report for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the prospectus in

relation to the Listing, is set out below.

mF -

RESULTS = |
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MBLEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET AT FET FHET
Revenue U zs 548,679 401178 555561 572,864 959,947
Cost of goods sold 72 am 8H B AR (407,831) (304,058) (427,386) (438,825) (722,123)
Gross Profit EX 140,848 97,120 128,175 134,039 237,824
Other income EHAb g A 3,939 3,658 8,296 4,868 5,410
Fair value loss on financial WARBEFAETZH
assets at FVPL PREEANAE

&8 - - - - (272)
Selling and distribution costs  $H& &2 AR (10,435)  (8,522)  (11,570)  (11,604) (12,457)
Administrative and other TR R EAEE

operating expenses [ (57,432) (55,473) (66,584) (66,909) (107,794)
Finance costs ZUR %N (6,634) (13,087) (13,320)  (13,525) (12,027)
Listing expenses il 53 - - - (15,844)  (6,402)
Profit before tax BRI A 5 F 70,286 23,696 44,997 31,025 104,282
Income tax expenses i3 X (17,650) (5,935) (11,7140)  (10,947) (28,527)
Profit for the year FERBER 52,636 17,761 33,857 20,078 75,755
Other comprehensive EHEib2m (E5E)

(loss) income Wz (2,421)  (11,542) (28,937) 16,948 (4,831)
Total comprehensive income 2 HEUWNZFBEE 50,215 6,219 4,920 37,026 70,924
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

As at 31 December
M12A31H

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FET FHETT FHBxT

Total assets BB E 604,518 655240 632,478 654,789 971,749

Total liabilities waE 368,569 413,072 385390 370,675 520,508

Total equity MRS ERE 235,949 242,168 247,088 284,114 451,241
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